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so murder himself. And that the bloody razor was flung out of the chamber-win-
dow is made good by no less than ten witnesses. y
Thus have you some grounds and reasons (from the improbability and impossibility
of the thing) to clear his innocency from the horrid fact so impudently charged upon
him, and consequently the guilt of others, and which may be sufficient to all wise men
to detect the murder, and inforce a review, if no othér evidence: could be produced ;
tenfold less has done it in other cases, it being so difficult. many times to get tight, and
trace such secret hidden works of darkness as Sir Fran. Bacon elegantly in Sir Tho.
Overbury’s case tells us, “* That wise men must take upon them, in these secret cases,
Solomon’s spirit, that when there could be no witnesses, collected the act by the effec-
tion,” viz. when he used the stratagem about dividing the child ; but. this you will find
is not our case, Providence having given us a larger provision, as you will further hear.

IL. That he was barbarously murdered by others, as‘appears,

By the undeniable circumstances arising,

From the previous reports.

From the corrupt and partial proceedings of the coroner and his inquest.
From the conspirators villainous ends. And,

From the wicked methods used to stifle it.

By the undeniable circumstances arising,

1. From the many previous reports which they had spread of his self-murder, (2 me-
thod the papists have heretofore taken, but the policy thereof never yet understood,
viz. when they stabbed Henry IV. of France, burnt London, assassinated Sir E. B. G.
and murdered H. the warder) of which divery undeniable proofs have been, and are
ready to be groduced of such reports, not only in London, but 50, 60, 80, 90, and
100 miles off; in some places a day, in some two, in others (at a great distance) the
very day he was mnurdered ; and as most remarkable (as God would haveit) all agreeing
in the very manner thereof, viz. cuttirig his throat in the Tower. At Andover, 60 miles
off, they Kad the report of his cutting his throat in the Tower the 11th of July, which
was the first day of his imprisonment there, which sufficiently discovers what they de-
signed beforehand ; for if this report came from London, it must be before he was a

risoner, at least in the Tower, and two days before the thing was done.
| (2.) From the irregular, corrupt, partial, and unjust proceedings’of the coroner and
iis inquest. ¢ ‘ .

1. That one'Farnham, said to be a deputy coroner, which the law knows nothing
of, and to be sure a legal coroner he was not, Sir T S———, the.steward of-the
‘Yower, being the proper officer, and accountable for that great trust ; but this is the
tool who must be brought forth to do the job.

2. That none of the relations were summoned to attend the inquest, which, by
known usage, ought to have been.

3. That, contrary to the known custom and usage, not only of our own, but other
nations, as well as the king’s special and express command, the body was removed
from the place and posture it was said first to be found in, stripped, and clothes taken
away, the body and rooms washed from the blood, to prevent tie notoriety of the fact
upon view, and, as said, by the new coroner’s contrivance or consent, (which makes it
the more heinous and suspicious,) for had it remained in the place and posture it was
said first to be found in, the print of the bloody foot upon the stockings, the cravat or
neck-cloth being cut into four pieces in the middle, and the ‘contrary witnesses,- who
speak both as to place and posture, would bave clearly discovered the murder, the
notched ragor and cut hand being most pregnant circumstances, yet.little regarded.

4. That the jury excepted against the removing of the body from the posture and
place, and demanded a view of the clothes, whi/qh William Fisher did by name, yet was
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depied the same by the coroner, after he had been in the next room with some of the
conspirators, who had called him out upon that demand, and who, upon his return to
the jury again, did declare to them (as ignorantly as wickedly) that they were to sit
upon the body, and not the clothes.

5. The partial examination of witnesses; that though there were several in and about
the house when the fact was done, yet only Bomeny* and Russell, who they might justly
suspect to be privy to it, must be the principal witnesses they will examine in the case,
taking little notice of ‘Peck, Mundeny, Lloyd, Captain Hawley himself, or the two
women.

6. The little xegard had to the notorious contradictions in the witnesses they did or
might examine ; Bomeny telling them the razor was given him (wherewith he cut his
throat) the 12th of July, and Russell the 13th; ‘Bomeny, that Russell broke open the
door; but Russell, that he easily opened it with the key on the outside ; Bomeny, that
he could only, through the chink of the door, see some blood, and some part of the
‘razor ; but Russell, that he could, through the same chink, see the whole body ; Bomeny
and Russell, that the whole body lay in the closet, and none of it to be seen in the
chamber; but Peck and others, that part of it lay in the chamber; Bomeny and Rus-
sell, that they were absent but a quarter of an hour from my lord ; but to others, Bo-
meny owns he was absent from him two or three hours, insomuch as he was cold and
stiff before he saw him ; some, that he was found lying; others, kneeling.

7. That they unduly suffered themselves to be hurried into a verdict by the messa
brought them by Capt. Hawley, in the king's name, to hasten the same; as though the
death of so great a man, and in that place too, deserved not a serious and due search,
especially when they saw such foul play dffered thenl, by removing body and clothes,
and denying a view of the clothes, and when none of the relations present, and so few
of the witnesses examined, and those in so much contradiction too.

8. By the unheard-of drawing their verdict, which was dohe not by the coroner, nor
by the jury among themselves, as it ought to have begn, but by one of the conspirators
themselves in the next room, who sent it to them by Bomeny, and which they signed
accordingly. . .

9. By giving so wicked and false a verdict upon their oaths, which was this, viz.
““ That the Earl of Essex, being the 13th of July alone in his ghamber, did, with a
razor, voluntarily and feloniously cut his throat, giving unto himself dne mortal wound,
cut.from one jugular to the other,’and by the aspara arteria, and the wind-pipe, to the
vertebrey of the neck, both the jugulars being thoroughly divided, df which said
wound the earl instantly died.” -

This was the conspirators diabolical writing, which they imposed upon the jury, and
they made their verdict both coroner and inquest by subscribing it.

it falsely saith, he was alope.ip the chamber; whereas by the flinging out the bloody
razor, as well as by suffigient"testipony, it will appear that several went up and came
out at that time. s’ . ,

It also falsely saith he did give himself with that fazor one mortal wound of such
a length and such a depth, which are utter impossibilities, as before.

_(8.) From the Yill:itous ends the conspirators hid to effect and carry on hereby,
ViZ. -

1. To confirm a protestant plot, a thing which they had long and often laboured,
and as often been disappointed in, and which was so improved by the attorney-general,
as 1000 witnesses td make it good; as also by the lord chief justice, as the finger of

* Paul Bomeny and Fmnois Rubsell, the former Lord Essex’s valet de chambre, the latter a warder of the
Tower, were the persons who fisst found the earl’s body, and who were suspected of his murder.
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God, to convince all the world thereof, the sad consequence whereof hath since bien
so severely felt. y ;

2. Utterly to stifle the popish plot, witness the bailing the popish lords, impeached
and committed by parliament, out of the Tower, and the publick prints to ridicule the
same ever since. . _

3. To destroy the Lord R————, and therefore done at the very instant he was to
come to his trial, and so improved by the lawyers to the jury, which some of them
bave owned did more prevail with them to bring him in guilty than any other proof
produced against him.

4. That they might remove out of the way so great a champion of the protestant
cause and interest, who, by his great employments and trusts in this and the other na-
tions, had gained so perfect knowledge of their popish, horrid intrigues, the way they
have taken of old, both in this and other nations ; and whereof divers instances might
be given, besides that of Sir E. B. Godfrey, whose wounds bleed afresh at the mention-
ing hereof.

5. That hereby they, might carry on a hellish dcsi? against the king himself; as
though he had Deen privy thereto, by not only butchering him in that his royal pri-
son and palace, (where by the law be becomes pledge for the safety and forthcoming
of the prisoner,) and at a time when he was there in person, where {e had not been for
divers years before, and as though he came purposely to order the doing thereof,
and to entitle the government to 1t, which the lord chief justioe deth so often incul-
cate : If he was indeed then murdered by others from the kﬁ;l gvesence there, {in
Bradon’s Trial,] as also by that their hornd presumption, in sending in the king's name
to hasten and hurry the jury in that corrupt verdict, and so daringly and contemptu-
ously to remove the body, contrary to the king’s express command, by a person of

uality.
i (4.) From the methods which have been used to stifle the discovery hereof, and to
deter men from inquiring into the matter.

1. By the lawyers and judges, who bave declared, that whoever went about to prove
the Farl of Essex murdered, did no other than libel the government and bring the
guilt of his blood upon it. ‘

2. By the strict command given by the officers of the guards in the Tower, the.
day after the murder, to all the soldiers, not to speak one word thereof at their
perils. ) i i

3. By the évere prosecutions aund persecutions of those who have appeared herein,
both as to their estates, persons, lives, and liberties. ’ ’

Witness the turning eut of old Edwards from his place in the Custom-house, where-
in he had been twenty-nine years, for only bidding his son, upon his blessing, speak
the truth in the case; and the many severities to Mr Bradon, for declaring what others
had said about it; and the severe dealing with MrHugli'Speak for the same; as also
that late cruel usage of that poor soldier ir the Tojper, because he would not affirm
the Earl of Essex murdered hirself, who was first whipped with cords till the skin was
fleaed off, after that scourged with rods, and then put upon thewooden horse, with six
muskets at his beels, his sword broken, and cashiered. But especially the destruction
of Robert Meak, the centinel, for telling what he heard and saw that day of the bloody
tragedy, whose neck was therefore broke, and flung into the Tower-ditch; who de-
clared before-band to his friends how his life was threatetied for the same. As also
Hawley the warder, who was served in like manner for blabbing ; whose murdered bod
was, about 2 month after it was missing, taken up near Rochester, where a great poPisi
lord declared, several days before he was found, that he had there drowned himself,

4.* By the endeavours which have been used to prevent the review, which, by two
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letters to two noblemen, and the letters to the Lady Essex, sent openly by a messen-
ged to Cadman the bookseller, which he brought to Justice Henton, and he to the
secretary, all of them purporting a discovery upon indemnity and a review, but all in
vain.

(4.) By positive proofs, attesting the murder ; that if indemnity may be granted, as
was oﬁ'erctr in Sir E.B. G '8 case, and a fresh legal enquiry, as in Sir Tho. O——'s
case and others,there will then be produced positive evidence, which will declare who
were the contrivers and authors, who the actors and abettors of this barbarous and de-
testable murder; describe the instrament with which it was done, and which was made
on purpose for the same; the rewards and preferments to the respective actors therein,
with alt the matenial circumstances about it. Which engairy was successfully made in
Sir Tho. O———'s case, after the coroner’s inquest had found it (as said) a natural
death ; and by which, after more than two years stifled by a high hand, the then prin-
cipal minister of state and his associates, with the lieutenant of the Tower and others,
were searched into, found guilty, and many of them executed for that hotrid murder,
committed upon that innocent gentleman in the Tower.

The Conclusion.

Now may not this dismal tragical account (which carries so much demonstration in
it) be well left without a comment, or any rhetorical strain of wit, or flourish of elo-
quence, either to convince or satisfy the reader of the truth hereof;, to provoke him to
the discharge of that duty incumbent updn him in his place or station, (which so bar-
barous and unheard-of a murder calls for at his hand}) the better to deliver himself and
the nation from the crying sin of blood-guiltiness; and which is therefore left to the
consideration and conscience of all that hear thereof in general, and to all the ministers
of justice, and his fellow-peers in special, whose oaths, honours, and interests may
oblige them to their duties herein ; and who, in reasop, ought to feel the bleeding smart
of this bloody stab, not knowing which of their own turns may be next: And to his
relations and kindred in particular, who are pore than others called forth, in a peculiar
manner, to make a further and better inquisition after his blood than hath yet been made,
especially after thig full discovery is offered to them, as they wogld vindicate his inno-
cency, wipe off the stain of felony, murder, and treason fsom the noble family, deliver
themselyes from the reproach of being bribed by the forfeited estaté\to hold their
tongues, and suffer others to be so severely handled, as officious for appehring therein,
ander their silence; and as they would free themselves from the guilt of his blood, and
answer the neglect to God and man. Lastly, to all those (of which there are many)
who, either as accessaries or actors, have embrued their bands in this innocent blood ;
whether, since they are secgetly known, it will not be their wisest and best course (as
some did in Sir Tho. Overbury’s €ase) to come forth and confess, and give glory to
God, as they may hope ‘for mercy here or‘hereafter, and not to think to shelter them-
selves under ldy and greatness, .which will be a covgring (in this case) too short for
the greatest themselves ; because God, who is the avenger of blood, and to whom ven-
geance bel will bring all to the house-top, and récompence them according to their
deeds, there being “ no datkness, nor shadow of death, where the workers of iniquity
may hide t&l’m%&.” '
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Innocency and Truth vindicated. An Account of what kath been, or is ready to be depo-
sed, to prove the most treacherous and cruel Murder of the Right Honourable Arthur,
late Earl of Essex. With Reflections upon the Evidence, and the most material Qbjec-
tions against this Murder diacussed and answered. In a Coyference befween three Gen

tlemen concerning the present Inguiry into the Death of that Noble Lord axd true
Patriot; :

“ Whoso sheddeth man’s blood, by man shall his blood be shed.”~=Gen. ix. 6.

¢ For blood it defileth the land, and the land caunot be cleansed of the blood that is shed therein, but by
the blood of him that shed it.”==Numb. xxxv. 83,

Magna est veritas et pravalebit.

Printed in the Year 1689.

Lawrence Braddon of the Inner Temple took a very active share in tracing out the various reports
concerning the death of the Earl Jf Essex, until his zeal drew on him the indignation of the
court. He was tried for & misdemeanour, as having attempled to throw upon the King and
Duke of York the guilt of Essex’s murder. He was tried before Jefferies, and sentenced o
pay a fine of 2000l which being beyong his means, he appears to have remained in prison till
the Revolution. See Introduction to the former Tract, p. g

7o the R%ﬁu’ Honourable the Lords of the (late) Committee, appointed to examine into
the Death of ¢hat Noble Lord and true Patriot, Arthur, late Earl of Essexr.

My Loﬁs, .

Coutp I have managed the evidence in proof, of the murder of this honourable
Jord with that strength and efficacy they are capable of, nothing would more plainly
have appeared to the impartial reader, than this (to me) great truth, viz. That the Right
Honourable Arthur, late Earl of Essex, was:most treacheyously and barbarously mur-
dered. But such as it is, I do, with all humility, ‘cast it at your lardships feet, to whose
great judgments I shall, with entire resignation, submgit. * -

My lords, having long known, and been lately much conversant with Mr Braddon,’
T have had often opportunities of discoursing almost every witness in this cdse exami.
ned ; and such as [ myself have not spoke with, I have from hifn been informed what
such have declared: And though the account 1 have here given of what these have re-
lated, which have been examined before your lordships, bé more large and. particular
than their depositions, (because I have had repeated opportunities of hearing their re-

* This account of the evidence respecting the death of Essox, although written in the same spirit of party as
the last, contains some curious particulars. It is decorated with a frontispiece representing the manner of the
supposed murder, the position of the earl’s body in the closet, and the razor with which the deed was committed.
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}nt‘ms) vet, if themselves say true. nothing in these papers is contradictory to or in-
consistent with what they have deposed before your lordships.

My lords, in the account at large I have first stated the case, as to the pretended
self-murder, as it was and is endeavoured to be proved by those unm_edlately attending
on my lord ; and then 1 have divided the proofs for this murder into three general
heads, as they have relation to time : Whether,

First, Before the day of my lord’s death.

Secondly, The day of his death.

Thirdly, Subsequent to the day of his death.

And atter eveYy’ proof, I have raised all such. ob)ectlon; I could in conversation ever
meet with, or myself could object, which carried the least colour of argument against
such evidence ; and the solutions, with all humility, are submitted to your lordships
censures. .

* In the abstract, I have ohserved this order: First, I have stated the case, as repre-
Sented and sworn by those that would prove the self-murder ; and then detected the
falstty of every part of those relations. After which L have briefly considered the other
proofs in the same order of time as the discourse at large. .

My lords, several things here mentioned have not as yet been before your lord-
ships, some of these relations having not been known to Mr Braddon before your lord-
ships committee was dissolved : But these after-testimonies, and some other things not
here taken notice of, will be brought before your lordships, as soon as ruur lordshigs
shall think fit to move that thdse depositions and examinations, now sealed up, may be
taken out of the house by your lordships, and to those added such other testimonies
as have been taken before several justiced, (since the report made) or are ready to be
taken ; and then, that, as well such as are now sealed up, as those others which have
Leen, or shall be deposed, may be reported by your lordships, in such method as to
your lordships great wisdom shall seem most meet. After Which I doubt net but all
your lordships, and the whole world, will be convinced of that truth which the interest
of so many have industriously endeavoured to stifle : But there is no power of earth
and hell, when conjoined, can make that thing never to have been which was. And
therefore, if my lord was treacherously and barbarously murdered, no interest or strength
whatever can make.him a self-murderer. Truth may be destroyed in its credit, but
never in its beiny ; and the measures that have been taken o discredit the proof of this
murder, have been sufficiently detkcted as false, which hath not a littl&\increased the
crediPilit& of that which those counter-evidences would have rendered ifdcredible and
falsec '

* In passing sentence on Braddon, (who appears to have been all along guided by an honest, though certainty
an imprudent zeu!,) Jefferies gave the following specimen of his eloquence :—

“ 1 find here 1s judgment agunst yQu,¥nd "3is @ very foul offence, as notorious an offence as any person under
that which is capital could be guilty of ; Base aspersions of the government in order to promote sedition and
faction ; and for that end made le of all vijlainous medns to corrupt infants, and then justily thut villainy with
@ bragen face, to thut degree of impudence as I never before saw ; that all the justice of the nation must be
affronted by swch audacious fe.llum, or it seems his confidence has nof left him ; but here he smiles and seems.
is Il ke had dune Bo harm. «

“ Mr Braddon. My lord, I know my own innocency, and therefore have no reason to be troubled.

b L. C J. Your ionocence ! Your impudence you mean. I tell you, had you been in any other country but
this, the innocence you talk of would have sent you to the gallies.

“ Mr Just, Witking, Then you think, Mr Braddon, you huve done very well in what yeu have done ?

“ L. C. I. Ay, I mssure youjdes he. And the ot his party has gone so far, that at Winchester, when I
was there in the circuit, I was told that his doctrine bad obtained so much in thut country, especially irom that
place whence some of his witnesses came, | mean Andover, that there was & woman that was here the other
day, Mrs Drake, beitg at conventicle, held forth that my Earl of Essex wus murdered while the king was in
the Tower, and that God was the avenger of murder, and had found out & proper person for the prosecutfon of
It, and that was Mr Braddon ; and this suivelling cant prevailed at the conventicle, It is no such smirking
watter as you make it. Mr Braddon, I assure you, -

YOL. X.
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My lords, no two truths in nature are inconsistent ; for then a thing would be 4nd
not be, at the same time; wherefore when men would subvert the belief of a truth,
they do raise some falsehood which gtands in opposition to such truth; butif once this
falsehood appears in its true colour, then doth it give stronger credit to that truth
which before it was designed to prejudice. .

My lords, every man’s defence virtually concludes, If my defence be false, my charge
is true. This conclusion the law makes in all civil actions, and it’s accordihg to the
reason of the thing: For all men presume that every man accused will make use of
the best arguments (especially in matters of fact) he can for his defence ; and if those
appear false, he falls under a self-condemnation. My lords, tl:lcmgbhe this discourse is
printed, it's not published, nor above 200 printed, as is ready to be proved ; neither
will one of these be communicated to any, if your lordships shall so order it; for all
are kept till Mr Braddon receives your lordships commands as to their disposal. My
lords, 1 could wish I had not been so large in this discourse, secing your lordships
whole time is so engrossed by the B}xblic, that I fear the state can scarce aliow you
lordships any hours of perusal. My lords, though I can’t but humbly beseech your
lordships pardor for this presumption, yet I could not, without being guilty of the

reatest injustice, any otherwise dedicate this discourse, seeing what hath been already

iscovered is chiefly owing to your lordships unwearied diligence in those many com-
mittees, in which your lordships have so often sat in search of a truth, which the im-
penitency of some, and the industrious interest of others, have strongly opposed. But
maugre all opponents, the matter is (as 1 do humbly coaceive) so far detected as cir-
cumstantial evidence is (almost) capable of ;.and those that will not be convinced of
the truth of a murder, unless positively attested, demand such proof for their convic-
tion as no law requires. Now that the God of wisdom, righteousness and truth, may
direct and prosper your lordships in this, and all other undertakings, is the humble

prayer of,
My Lords,Lo ash _
Your Lordship’s most humble
and obedien&want,

P. V.

T

A Lincolns-Inn Gent. Sir, I rejoice 1 have thus fortunately met you here ; tor ever
since I came to town I have longed to see you, because I have been desired by man
of our countrymen to give them what information I can how the case of the late Earl
of Essex now stands ; whether there bave been any infsfmations or examinations here-
in, taken before the honourable House of Lords, '¥for ‘'wé have heard their lordships,
upon their first sitting, took the matter ints examingtion) arid what you have heard to
be the substauce of those depgsitions and examinations, whether sufficient to prove
that unfortunate lord treacherously murdered, as he was generally believed®to be.

A Templer. Sir, you could nevet have met me more opportunely for your satisfaction

¢ But oh ! What a happiness it was for this sort of people that they had got Mr Braddon, an honest man and
& man of courage, says %‘Ir Speke, & man @ propas; mpny, says he to*his friend, give him the best advice
you can, for he is @ man very fit for the purpose ; and pray secure him under & sham name, for I'll undertake
there are such designs upon pious Mr Braddon, such contrivances t0 do him a mischief, that bad be not had
his piotestant flail about him, somebody or cther would bave knocked him on the head ; and he is suck a won.
derful man that all the king’s courts of justice muss needs conspire to do Mr Braddon s mischief; & preity
sort df 8 man upon my word, and he must be used accordingly : men that arrogate and assume to Lheml;ven »
liberty to do such kind of things must expect to fare accordingly.”—Stete Triuls, 111 897.
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in{lhis, seeing I have now about me the substance of all those depositions and exami-
nations that have been taken before the secret committee of lords aprointed by the
house for this purpose, and sometime since reported to the house ; and likewise copies
of many informations herein taken before some justices of the peace ; besides all which,
1 have copies of such depositiogs as have been sworn to destroy the credit of what hath
been materially deposed to prove that unfortunate lord villainously murdered ; and fur-
ther, I hive several informations taken to strengthen my lord’s evidence, in answer to
those depositions on the behalf of the prisoner. Of all which I have had an opportu-
nity to take copies, by being daily conversant with that %lentlemn, whose misfor-
tunes have made him of all men the best acquainted with this case. Sir, there is
hardly a witness ‘herein sworn but what I have discoursed ; neither do I believe there
is any objection can be raised against the proof of my lord’s being murdered, but what
I can sufficiently answer. All which your authority shall command from me, who re-
joice in this occasion of serving you. But I question whether it may not be thought
a divulging of what a secret committee hath had under examination, and ought still to
be kept private.

L. You can’t but know that this secret committee is dissolved, by the reﬁzrts being
made to the house, where the depositions baving been read, it can no !onFtr thought
a secret: And it being for the interest of the kingdom it should be published, (if there
be any evidence to prove this murder) I can’t imagine how your communicating this
matter can in the least prejudice this cause, the just success whereof no man living can
desire with greater impatience than myself, who shall, (it's probable) by your now
assistance, be able to stop the mouths of.those gainsayers, which, not so much out of
malice as misinformation, seem totally te disbelieve.this matter; of which number Mr
O of Grays-Inn, (our friend and old acquaintance) is one ; he did appoint to be here
precisely at this time. He is now come. "

A Grays-Inn Gent. Gentlemen, your most humble servant.

T. Sir, weare both cordially yours, and rejoice you are thus opportunely come.

G. 1 hope my company doth not hinder private business; if so, I will leave you till
such your discourse is ended, and then shall esteem myself happy in the enjoyment of
both your good companies. .

T. Sir, the business we are upon you are free to hear, and I do very much rejoice in
this opportunity of making you a convert. . Y%

(. In what, pray, sir? for if Pam in any error, I hope 1 am not %h(ereto so wed-
ded, but, upon good cause shewn, shall readily sue a divorce, and thatk you heartily
for Iny conviction.

L. This gentleman is about giving such reasons as will convince (not me, for I do al-
ready believe it, but) you, that the late Earl of Essex was treacherously and villainously
murdered. ~

G. Pish! there is not thedeast grotind for such a belief, neither hath there been any
colour of evidence for it produced to the lords. Moreover, all my lord’s relations are so
firmly possessed with the belief, that the late Hasl of Essex did indeed cut his own
throat, that neither of them hath thought fit in the least to move in this matter, but
all of them wish that this cause had never been revived, because it renews the remem-
brance of that sad and deplorable accident which :hath been so great a misfortune to
that honourable family. ° |

T. Sir, J perceive you have been abused in every part of your information, for yaur
author scarce told you one word of trath. As for the families not appearing in (but
being very averse to) this prosecution, I do assure you, sir, thisisfar from being true ;
for no gentleman could'shew more honour, and greater zeal in & cause, than the Right
Honourable Sir Henry (the late earl’s only brother) hath done in this, ant cau-
sed some to be taken up for endeavouripg to abuse the world with the belief; that he
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bad not engaged in this matter." The now Earl of Essex was not returned from Sfi's
travels when this prosecution was renewed; but as soon as he came, his lordship
proved of what was done, and hath been at the charge of this prosecution, in which you
may believe there hath been no small expence ; there having been in this cause such
a number of witnesses examined, and so many several committees. And whereas you
say there was not the least colour of evidence produced to the lords: Did you ever
hear what persons were sworn before their lordships, and after examined by this ho-
nourable committee ? )

G. Not in every particular, but in part I have, and in general have been informed,
that the witnesses produced by that gentleman, who pretended to prove. it, were lookel
upon as altogether insufficient for that end ; and therefore the l'!uuse' o_f Lords, upon
reading the informations in this case taken by the committee, immecdiately rejected
them as frivolous, thereupon ordering, that all such as had been taken up, as suspect-
ed concerned in this pretended murder, should be discharged. :

7. 1 perceive in this also you have been misinformed as to both particulars; for the
House of Lords, upon reading what was taken by the honourable lords of this commit-
tee, neither rejected the evidence as insufficient, nor ordered the discharge of such as
in this case were taken up, but the depositions being read before the house, when three
of the four honourable lords of this committee were out of town, viz. the Earl of De-
von, the Earl of Monmouth, and Lord Delamere, (the Earl of Bedford being the first
in this committee) the house ordered all those depositions and examinations to be
sealed up, and kept by the clerk of the parliament, till these three lords returned, and
in the mean time the farther debate hereupop to be suspended : To prove all which,
pray, sir, read this order made Die, Jovis 238* Mati, 1689,

Die Jovii 23°. Maii, 1689.

‘“ After reading several papers and Jepoaitions relating to the death of the late Earl of
Essex, it is ordered by the lords spiritual and temporal in parliament assembled, that
the consideration of this business shall be suspended until the return of the Lord
Steward, the Earl of Monmouth, and the Lord Delamere, who were of the committee
before whom they were made, and who are now in the country in his majesty’s service.
And it's further orderéd, that the said depositions and papers shall be sealed up, and
kept by the cl?.. of the parliament in the mean times”

G. Then I find my information in this particular false. :

T. As to the second, that the lords have not ordered the discharge of such as were
in this case apPrehended, but contrariwise, that all these should be bound over by the
court of King's Bench, to appear the first day of the next term, appears by an order
of the House of Lords made the 15°. June, 1689,‘#&::5‘? u may read if you please.

Die Sabati 15°. Junii, 1689.

““ Ordered by the lords spiritual and temporal, in parliament assembled, that such per-
sons as are now under bail by recognizance, concerning the death of the late Earl of
Essex, shall be, by the court of King's Bench, bound over-to appear the first day of
Michaelmas term next.”

* Notwithstanding what is here asserted, it is proved, by the evidence produced on Braddon’s trial, that Sir
ng:‘ry Capel discountenanced all eaquiry into his bmﬁar{ death, See his evidence in Braddon’s trial for a
misdemganour. : :
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k:. 1 thank you, sir, for your information herein, and it's very probable those who
glve me such false information as to the lords proceedings in this matter, may have
Jikewise forged what arguments they thought might sway with me to believe my lord’s
elf-murder ; what those are I shall give you ait account. But I first desire to hear
what evidence in particular hath been produced to prove my lord’s being murdered by
others. . )

7. Before I+give you an account of the informations that have been in this case
taken, I think it proper first to inform you how the case came before their lordships,
and what by them thérein hath been done, and how the case now stands before the

house. 5 #
G. Pray, sir, use your own method. )
7. The 21st of January last, (being the day before the convention sat) several per-

sons were taken up, as suspected to be privy to thy lord’s murder ; amongst whom was
Major Hawley, (Major of the Tower) in whose house my lord was murdered, and Tho-
mas Russell, one of the two warders that stood upon my lord at the time of his death ;
these two belonging to the Tower, and consequently under the command of the Right
Honourable the Lord Lucas, governor of theql‘ower, were not taken up by any con-
stable ; but his lordship having seen the warrant out against them, drdered both to be
secured. The next day, being the 22d, several informations were taken before John
Robins, Esquire, one of the Middlesex Justices, who carried copies of these informa-
tions to my Lord Lucas. His lordship, the 24th, moved the House of Lords for their
lordships order, as to the keeping, discharging, or removing Hawley and Russell, as
before secured by his lordship’s command ; and then produced to the house those in-
formations brought his lordship, as befgre by Mr Robins; upon reading which, after
some debate, the House of Lords ordered Mr Braddon to be called in before their lord-
ships, and after his examination, their lordships constituted a committee of lords, of
which the Right Honourable the Earl of Devonshire, (now lord steward of his ma-
jesty's household) was chairman. After this committee had several times met, there
was a secret cpmmittee ordered to examine into the matter; which committee con-
sisted of these four honourable lords, viz. the £arl of Bedford, the Earl of Devon, the
Earl of Monmouth, (then Lord Mordant) apd the Lord Delamere; after this commit-
tee had many times sat, and taken about forty depositions and examinations, the Earl
of Monmouth and the Lord Delamere were sent by his majesty into the country, as
two of the lords commissioners tp regulate the army. Adter these two lords were thus
out of town, the Earl of Devon (being chairman of the committee) Bdught these de-
positions and examinations into the house ; but it-being then late in the Hay, none were
read, but an order made that they should be read the next morning; but his majesty’s
affairs commanded likewise the Earl of Devon the next morning to go into the coun-
try, so that when these informations were read in the house, not one of the four lords
of this committee were thei€ besidgsthe Karl of Bedford: Wherefore the house ordered
the debate of the matter.to bé suspended, as you have before heard. And thus the
case came at first before their lordships, ahd so it now stands.

G. Sir, I thank you for undeceiving me, and desire you to proceed in such a method
as you think may giv® us the most regular notion of the matter.

T. Before | give you amy information to prove my lord by others barbarously mur-
dered, I think it proper to state the case as it was represented by those who would
have the world bcﬁeﬁe my, lord & self murderer ; for without this you cannot under-
stand what use can be made of many informations that have been in this case taken,
because you will ngt be able to see wherein they contradict what was sworn before the
coroner, to prove my lerd’s self-destruction, and whatsoever proves their representa-
tion of the matter to the coroner false, by a very natural consequence proves my lord’s
being murdered by others. .
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L. Without doubt. For what end, (I pray) should any swear to a lie but to conced a
truth, there being no other reason to be given for it ? ' b

T. 1 shall begin with my lord’s commitment to the Tower. The Right Honourable
Arthur, fate Earl of Essex, was comiwitted to the Tower the tenth of July, #4683, and
the first night lay at Captaio Cheeke's, the then lieutenant of the Tower, but the next
day was removed to Major Hawley’s, (then gentleman poiter of the Tower) and the two
warders placed upon his lordship were Nathaniel Muaday and Thomas «Russel, one to
stand at my lord’s chamber door, or in his chamber, and the other at the stairs-foot, and
thus by turns. Paul Bomeny, my lord’s servant, was permitted to be with his lord-
ship. At Mr Hawley's my lord lay Wednesday night and Thursday night, but Friday
morning, about nine of the clock, his lordship was found with his throat cut through
both jugulars and arteries, even to the neckboue, on both smdes the neck. The next
da )

?L. Sir, pardon this interruption : I ind that my lord first lai;‘at Captain Cheeke’s one
night, andp:hen was removed to Hawley's, where after two nights his dordship was found
dead ; how came it to pass that lord had not continued to lie at Captain Checke’s,
it being very usual for prisoners of his lordship’s quality to lic at the licutenant’s house,
as now my {ord Salisbury doth at the Lord Lucas's?

T. The true cause of this removal 1 canpet give you, but the colour I can; it is

retended that Captain Cheeke would not be troubled with any prisoners in his own

ﬁouse ; for which reasen (as pretended) his lordship was removed ; but this I believe
not to be the cause, but, (as I said) the colour only ; as for the tmue reason hereof, I
refer you to the men ¢f secrecy in this case. But to proceed : the next day being Satur-
day, the jury sate, and before them were swqm the aforesaid Paul Bomeny, Thomas
Russel, and the two chirurgeons.

Which informations are as followeth aceording to the print; but that (as I shall ob-
serve in its own proper plage) varies from the origina in Bomeny’s information.

The Information of Paul Bomeny, Servdnt to the late Earlof Essex for about Threc or
Four Years now last past, taken upon+QOath, the 14th Day of July, Anno Regni
Caroli Secondi Dei gratia Anglie, Scotiz, Franciz, et Hibernie Regls, Fider Defensor,
&c. Tricesimo Quinto, Annoque Domini, 1683.

Saith, that /v‘{\en my lord came to Captain Hawley’s, which was the 11th instant,
my Lord of Essex asked him for a penknife to pare his nails, as he was wont to do, to
wKich this informant answered, being come in haste, he had not brought it, but he
would send for one, and accordingly.sent the footman with a note for severs! things
for my lord, amongst which the penknife was inserted. and the footman went and
gave the bill to my lord’s steward, who sent the pmiai(n;‘, but not the penknife, and
he told the footman he would get one the next day. When th¢ footman was come, my
lord asked if the penknife was come; this informant answered no, but he should have
it the next day; and accordingly he on the 1¢th instant in the morning, before m
Lord of Essex was up, this informant sent the footman howe witha note to the steward,
in which, amongst other things, he asked for a penknife for my lord; and when the
footman was gone, about, or a [ittle after eight of the clock, my lord sent one Mr
Russel, his warder, to this informant, who came, and then he asked him if the penkmife
was come; this informant said, No, my lord, but I shall have it by and by. To which
my lord said, that he should ‘bring him owe of his ragors, it would do as well ; and then
this informant went and fetched one, and gave it my lord, who then went to pare his
nails ; @nd then the informant went out of the room into the passage by the door, on

tr Fridap the 13th ingtant, and began to talk with the warder ; and a little while after
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hd went down stairs. And soon after came the footman with the provisions, and brought
ako a penknife, which this informant put upon his bed, and thought my lord had no
more need of it, because he thought he had pared his nails. And then this informant
came up to my lord’s chamber, about eight or nine in the fqrenopn. on Fridap the
13th ingtant, with a little note from the steward ; but not finding his lord in the cham-
ber, went to the close-stool closet door, and found it shut, and thinking his lord was
busy there, went down and staid a little, and came up again, thinking his lord had
been come out of the closet, and finding him not in the chamber, he knocked at the
door with his finger thrice, and said, My lord; but nobody answering, he took up the
banging, and looking through the chink, he saw blood and parts of the razor, where-
upon he called the warder, Russel, and went down to eall for help, and the said Russel
pushed the door open, and there they saw my Lord of Essex all along the floor, with-
out a perriwig, and all full of blood, and the razor by him. And this deponent further
deposeth, that the razor now shewed to him at the time of his examination is the same
razor which he did bring to my lord, and which did lie on the ground in the closet by
my lord.

The Information of Thomas Russel, one of the Warders of the Tower, who had the Cus-
tody of ihe Earl of Essex, taken the Fourteenth Day of July, Anno Regni Caroli Se~
cundh Der gratia Angli, Scotiz, Franciee et Hiberniz Regis, Fidei Defensoris, &c.
Tricesimo Quinto. Annogue Domini, 1683,

Saith, That on Friday the 13th instant, about eight or nine of the clock in the fore-
noon, he was present when he did hear the Lord of Essex call to his man, Mr Bomeny,
for a penknife to pare his nails, and then for a razor, which Mr Bomeny brought him ;
and then my lord walked up and down the room scraping his nails with the razor, and
shut the outward door. Mr Bomeny, kaifa quarter of an hour afterwards, not finding
my lord 1 his bed-chamber, went down stairs agaln, believing that my lord was then
private in his closet. Bomeny came up about a guarter of an hour afterwards, and
knocked at the door, then ealled, My lords my lord! but he not answering, peeped
through a chink of the door, and did see the Earl of Essex lying on the ground in the
closet, whereupon he did cry out, that my lord was fallen dowd sigk, and then the in-
formant went to the closet door,sand opened it, the key being on the |ytside, and then
did see.my lord lie on the ground in his bloud, and his throat cut.

The Information of Robert Skerwood, of Fenchuroh-Street, Chirurgeon, taken the 14th
Day of July, Anno Reggi Caroli Secundi Dei gratia Anglie, Scotiz, Francie et
Hibernise 18, Fidqi 1sorg=¢cc. Tricesimo guinto, Annoque Domini, 1683.

Saith, That he hath viewed the throat of the Earl of Essex, and does find that there
is a large wound, and that the aspera grteria, or wind-pipe, and the gullet, with the
jugular arteries, are all divided, of which wound be certainly died.

The Information of Rober} Andrews, of Cruichet-Friars, Ckimﬂgm, taken upon Oath
the 14th Day of Juty, Anno Regni Caroli Secundi nunc Regis Angliee, &c. Trice-
simo Quinto, Asnoque Domini, 1683,

Saith, That he hath viewed the throat of the Lord of Essex, and does find that it was
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cut from the one jugular to the other, and through the wind-pipe and gullet into the
vertebres of the neck, both jugular veins being also quite divided.

Upon these informations the coroner’s jury found my lord l{g{o de se.

Tl]::substancc of these informations in short is, that my Lord of Essex called for a
penknife to pare his nails, but the penknife not being ready, his lordship required a
razor, which was delivered him, with which razoc his lordship retired into his closet,
and locked himself in ; but soon after the closet door being opened, my lord was found
with his throat cat through both jugulars and arteries to the neck-bone, and the razor
(as before delivered) lying by him. : ) .

Nathaniel Munday (the other warder on my lord at the time of his'death) now de-
clares, that as soon as my Lord of Essex’s chamber-door was opened by the gentleman
jailor, about seven of the clock, (that morning my lord died,) he stood warder upon my
Tord till about a quarter of an hour before my lord was found dead, and then he called
up Russel, and left him at the door, and then went down stairs, where he had not been
a quarter of an hour before Bomeny cried out, My lord is fallen down sick ; whereupon
he ran up stairs, and found Bomeny .and Russel endeavouring to open the closet-door,
but neither could stir it, because my lord’s body lay so very close and strong against
the door; wherefore he being stronger than either Bomeny or Russel, put his shoulder
against the door, and thrusting with all his might, broke it open.

Major Hawley (at whose house my lord was murdered) saith, that about five of the
clock that morning my lord died, he went outto open the Tower-gates, (according to
the duty of his place,) and came not home, nor nigh his own house, till about zire of
the clock, when Munday, the warder, came to him, and told him my Lord of Essex had
cut his throat ; whereupon Hawley, going home, found it true, and immediately there-
upon went to his majesty Charles the Secound, (then in the Tower,) and did inform his
majesty of the same.

Bomeny, Russel, and Munday, (and likewise Lloyd, the sentinel at my lord's lodg-
ings that morning my lord died,) did ever Yeny (till January last)digt any men were
let into my lord’s lodgings before his death any time that morning m¥lord died. The
two first upon their oaths denied it before the coroner and Bomeny. Russel and Lioyd
did at Mr mdr?a'c trial, pag. 55, 56, 57, upon their baths declare, that no men were
let into my lard’s lodgings (that morping my lord died) before my lords death was
known. Munaay and Russel still persist in their denial of any mens being let into my
lord before his death that morning my lord died.

This is the state of the case, as it was represented by those that were immediately
attending upon my lord at the time of his death. I shall aet, in this place, make any
observations upon the several contradictions and iMreohereirces of these relations, nor
yet say what is proved to falsify all that hath (as before) by ‘these been declared aod
sworn, but shall leave this to a more proper plaoe, and shall, in my method, begin with
such things as were first in order of time. ' S g .

The informations and examipations in this case taken are nigh *sixty; I shall range
them in this order : I shall piace those .

First, that have relation to what passed before the day f the death of the late Ear]
of Essex. Secondly, those that refate to what passed the day+of his death. And, in the
third and last place, such as have relation to what was subseqgiient to the day of his
death ; upon hearing all which I doubt not but fully to convince every unprejudiced
person.

Z. Such I am I do assure you; for it's neither my interest nor my desire that this
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myhder (if such indeed it were) should not be detected ; but 1 do heartily wish all such,
of Whatsoever quality, sex, or condition, as stood concerned in contriving, privy to, or
acting in this murder, may be brought to condign punishment.

-G. If this be proved to be a murder, I shall always thiok it the most villainous that
was ever acted on our stage; and as soon as I shall be thoreughly convinced hereof,
shall as heartily desire (with you) that all actors and abetters herein may receive accord-
ing to their denlerit. And indeed I shall hardly think any punishment too severe for such
an act, or any thing too ill to be thought of any who were in the least concerned in this
treacherous complicated murder, (in person and tation,) if it be proved to be any. But
pardon me if 1 think it not true, but invented by heretofore disloyal and. disatfected
men, to raise an aversion against the most unfortunate among princes, who was trea-
cherously (I had almost said treasonably) deserted by his soldiers, as well as others, in
the midst of the greatest dangers. We have had much noise of this épretcnded) murder,
and (as some falsely call it) of the murder of Charles the Second, of the supposititious-
ness of the birth of the Prince of Wales, and of the {)rivate French league; Eut all this
hitkerto hath been but talk, and I now think (as I ever did) there is not any good
grounds for the belief of either ; for if there had, we should long since [for the vindica-
tion of what is past, which I shall forbear to call by its proper name) have had it made
more publick. -

T. Bona verba, gueso, not this great heat.

G. But passion is very natural to every honest man that had aay sparks of true
loyalty upon such reflections ag these.

7. Passion serves not, but prejudices 3p argument, and, generally speaking, where
there is the most passion there is least regson. © | |

G. 1 will endeavour for the future to be more calm.

L. I shall tell you, at our next meeting, what I have heard coneerning the death of
Charles the Second, and the birth of the pretended Prince of; Wales, and it's probable
may inform you in both of what you may have ndver heard, nor as yet made publick
by any; but 1 desire not any longer to detain this gentleman from proceeding in his
intended method. '

G. 1 beg bothr your pardons for this heat and interruption, and I do impatiently wait
to hear what can be said. -

T. 1 shall proceed 5 and, . .

First, as for such informations as have relation to what passed beforé gy losd's death ;
these are of two sorts; the first proves a resolution (by papists) mlﬂys before my
lord's death, to cut my lord’s throat, The

Second, many reports i several parts of England, (before my lord'’s death,) that the.
Earl of Essex had 'cut his throat in the Tower. For proof of their previous resolution
to cut my lord’s throat, pray read this paper, which 1 have taken for my own satisfac-
tion, and the information of sotse fricnds, from the person’s own mouth.

G. D. S, saith, © That'a little before thé death of the late Earl of Essex, as she was-
servant in the house of ome Mr Holmes, a papist, then living in Baldwin’s-Gardens,
about nine days beforp my lord's death, some papists (among which one Mr Lovet,
whom this imformeat knew) met in ber said master's bouse, she being then in the kit-
chen with one W. A. then appreatice with the spid Mr Holmes. The said W. A. went

a little vp ipipg; beckoned to this informaat to come to him; which this
informant accosdingly.did ; but the said W, A. sosn went up stairs into.the garret (as
this inforinant suppases) to work, and left this informant on the stairs; aud this in-
formant heard the mid papists discoursing in the room just over the kitchen, con-

said Earl of Beai,.and the substance of what she then heard wasstp the
effect ing, viz. one.odiéliom cursing the said earl, called him villain and dog, (or
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such, with several such opprobrious terms,) saying, he knew so much of their designs, and

Note as $0 very averse to their interest, that uniess he was taken off, they should never car 7y
them on. Upon which it was then answered by another, that they had been with his
Highness, and his Highness was for foi.mm'ng the said earl ; but his highness was told,
that manner of death would not look well to the world. It was then also declared, that
one had proposed to his highness stabbing the earl; but that was likewise not agreed
on. A4t length hig highness tonciuded, and ardeved his threat ta be cut’; and bis high-
ness Hab promised to be there twhen 1t wag done; (but this informant remembers not
any ;;Iace mentioned where the earl’s throat was to be cut).” This was the substance
of ‘what this informant heard the first meeting ; but about three days after, some of the
aforesaid persons met again at-the said Mr Holmes's house, and this informant listened
(as before) to their discourse, and heard one of them say, “ That the cutting the earl’s
throat was aerwed on, but they would give it out that he had done ot h.imsell s and if any
should deny it, they would take them up, and punis themfor it.” This informant further
saith, “ That being much troubled in mind for what she had heard. as above related,
she was willing to have discovered to some justice of peace what she knew, as aforeszid,
being willing the mischief, as above-desigued, might be prevented. Whereupon she
went to a friend of her's 1o advise with, viz. one Mr B, since dead, (who, before that
time, had been her master,) who lived not far from Mr Holmes’s house, and informed
him as before set forth. Whereupon the said Mr B. did advise her to be silent ; for the
papists, carrying all before them, she was ruined if she spoke of it. Upon which she did
not, to her remembrance, then reveal it to any other.”, This informant further saith,
“ That the very day of my lord’s death she was (not long before dinner) at a chand-
ler’s, (not far from the said Holmgs's house,),viz. one Mrs Hinton’s, in Leather-Lane,
where there then came some who declared, that the Earl of Essex had cut his throat
in the Tower; upon which she went home to Mr Holmes’s, and was extremely trou-
bled, and immediately taken with fits, having, as before, heard their resolution to cut
the earl’s throat.” This informant further declareth, “ That about two or three of the
clock the same day the earl died, some of the aforesaid consult met again at her master,
Holmes’s house, and she heard them léap about the room ; and one of them struck him
upon the back, and cried, “ The feat was.done, (or we have done the feat).” Whereupon
the said Mr Holmes replied, “ Is the earl’s throat cut?” To which the other answered,
“Yes,” and further gaid, He could not but laugh to think Hotw like a fool the Carl of
Caoer looked yoben thep cane to cwe His throac. The said Mr Holmes did then say,
“ Was his highness there ?” To which the other papist replied, “ Yes.” This informant
further saith, « That she did, about four years since, discover to ome Mr. R. (with whom
she then lived as a servant,) his wife and daughter, that she had heard at Mr Holmes's
house aforesaid, soine papists (several days before my lord’s death)’ declare, that the
earl’s throat was to be cut; but her said master R. commanded her to hold her peace,
and not to tell him such dangerous things, lest, ashe sefd, being overheard, she should
ruin him and all his family, or words to that effect.” '

G. It's improbable that any should discourse a matter of this consequence and se-
crecy, thus to be over-heard by the servant. %

7. 1 do hardly know any house more convenient for a secret meeting, provided ali
the family be true to the design; and, it’s probable, these men did notinow that this
maid was a protestant, or that upon the stairs in the kitchen their discourse could be
over-heard; but indeed it could be there heard almost as plain as in the very room it-
self, unless you whisper.

L. Besides, consider the circumstances of time when this consult was held. This
was when our government, in its corruption, was grown to such a pitch, that some peo-
ple were loyally mad, and (through blind prejudiced obedience, I hope, more than ma-



Historical Tracts. 83

lic!:) were offering up as sacrifices to the court, popish and arbitrary interest, the blood
ofthose brave men who did zealously oppose those cursed designs, the popish and ar-
bitrary end whereof we then saw through a glass, but since (to our cost) face to face.
Should, therefore, this poor maid have revealed what she heard, it's ten thousand to onc
but this truth would have met with such a disbelief in some, and such hatred in others,
that through both it would have been severely punished ; for, be sure, these bloody men
would have deposed, and, in probability, by others of their party, proved, that they at
that time were somewhere else; and, without all doubt, our then juries would sooner
have credited the many oaths which would, though falsely, have contradicted her tes-
timony, than her-own single evidence: And, therefore, 1 think Mr Billinger’s caution
(as before) given this maid, was grounded upon great reason, and what would have pro-
ed too true should it have been put to the trial.

G. Hath this woman been sworn ? )

7' Yes; and, as I have been told, deposed the same in substance before the lords.

G. She here speaks of scveral that she long since informed of this matter; is there
any that have or will depose the same ? for otherwise I shall look upon it as a new
contrived story maliciously to traduce the most unhappy crowned lLead in Christen-
dom, (King James the Second I mean,) and therein to serve a present interest.

L. 1 should agree with you in the same opinion, if it were not nor could be proved
by those to whom she revealed it ; but to satisfy you that it both can, and hath been
proved long since to be discovered by this D. S., pray read what Mr R., his wife, and
daughter, (before-mentioned in Smith’s information) do declare, and are ready to de-
pose. .

“G Mr R., his wife, and daughter, do declare, and are ready to depose, That about
four years since the aforesaid D. S. did declare, that she had heard a consult by papists
several days before the FEarl of Kssex’s death, wherein jt was declared the earl’s
throat was to be cut. And the said Mr R. further saith, That he did check the said
D. 8. for speaking of it, and would not hear her freely declare what she would have said
in that matter, because 1t would have been of ‘dangerous consequence to himself and
family, should such her discourse be over-heard, as it easily might by any that might
have listened at the window. And the said Mrs R. further saith, That the said D S.
about four years since did declare, that she could say much more than she had to them £2
revealed, and that she did hope she should live to see that day whereig she might with
safety speak the truth in this matter.”

L. Have either of those there been sworn before the lords ¢

T. Yes, Mr R. and his daughter, and they havg declared to me that they have de-
posed the same in substance before the lords.

L. How long hath Mr Braddon known of this evidence ?

T. No longer than about February last.

G. How doth that appear? *

7. By those two informations following ; by the first of which you will perceive,
that what this D. S. knew in this matter she was much afraid to reveal to every one.

L. She had great reason so to be, for had it been long since known to some that she
knew so much, in uil probability she would not now have been in the land of the liv-
g to have given this information.

7' The information you may read.

G. R. M. of London, goldsmith, deposeth, That some time after the death of the late
Earl of Essex, observing D. S. to be very melancholy, and much concerned ang trou-
bled in mind, the said R. M, desired the said D. S. to tell the reason of such her de-
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jection ; but the said D. S. at first was very unwilling, saying, she was afraid to reveal
her mind to any. Whereupon the said R. M. advised her to discover 1t to some pafti-
cular friend whom she could safely confide in: Upon which the said D. replied, That
comewhat which she knew with relation to the death of the late Earl of Essex was the
cause of her trouble, and it was not safe Jor her to reveal it, (or words to that effect ;)
whereupon the said R. M. advised her not to reveal it to any one, till she might with
safety. The said R. M. farther saith, That about February last, the sard R. M. finding
it safe to ask, and no danger to the said D. S. to reveal what she knew with relation
to the said earl’s death, he then desired her to inform him what she knew with relation
thereunto. Whereupon the said D. S. told him she had heard a consult before my lord’s
death to cut his throat, and that some t person was named at that meeting as con-
cerned in contriving the said earl’s death, (or words to that effect ;) upon which this de-

onent (without being very inquisitive into particulars,) sﬁoketo one Mr T. to acquaint
R{r Braddon, whom the said (k M. knew not, nor to his knowledge ever saw; and
‘sometime after the said Mr T. told the said R. M. that he had spoken to the said Mr
Braddon about it, and that the said Mr Braddon did desire him thesaid R. M. to bring
the said D. S. tq the Cross-Keys in Watling-street, where this deponent and the said
D. S., with one friend of hers more, met the said Mr Braddon and Mr T., and then the
said D, 8. gave the said Mr Braddon a particular account of what she knew with rela-
tion to the earl’s death. And this deponent doth verily believe, that before that time
the said D. S. never saw the said Mr é?addon or Mr T.

W. T. Gent. deposeth, That about January last, discoursing with one R. M. concemn-
ing the death of the late Earl of Essex, the said R. M. told this deponent, that he knew
one D. S. which could say what was material, with relation to the death of the iate
Farl of Essex; whereupon this deponent declared that he would inform Mr Braddon of
the same, of which the said R. M. seemed very willing and desirous. This deponent did
so accordingly, but the said Mr Braddon spoke to this effect, vis. “That he did believe
the papists did endeavour to put shain-evidence uﬁon him, which they being able to
detect, would from thence argue against the truth of all that should be said. And,
therefore, the said Mr Braddon declared, that unless the said D. appeared to be of good
reputation, and that she had some years since discovered what she knew in this case to
some friends, so that it did appear that it was not a new-contrived story, either to
serve the present intesest, or to baffle what else should be sworn, he would not believe
whatsoever she ghould say, meither would he have her sworn whatsoever she declared,
unless it appeared as above, confirmed by those to whom she revealed it.” This depo-
nent told the said Mr Braddon that he knew oot the said D. S., neither (to his remem-
brance) had ever seen her; but if the said Mr Braddon would appoint some time and

lace, he might discourse the said I). S., and hear what she could say ; which the said

r Braddon declared he would do if he knew where to speak with her; upon which
this deponent went to the said R. M., and desired, the said R.- M. to bring Lﬂg said D,
S. to the Cross-Keys in Watling-street, such a day and'hour, for there the said Mr Brad-
don and this deponent should then be. This deponent further'deposeth, That the said
R. M, D. §., and another, met this deponent and the said Mr Braddon accordingly ;
and this deponent.saith, 1hat be this deponent, the said R. M., another person, were
Kresent when the said Mr Braddon discoursed the said D, S., who then gave the said

Ir Braddon a particular account of two meetings of papists several days before the
Earl of Essex's death, wherein it was declared how the Barl of Essex’s throat was to be
cut, and by whom ordered, and likewise of what passed the day the ear] died, at the
same house where they met before bis death. This deponent further deposeth, That
the said Mr Braddon then spoke to the said D. 8. to this effect, That unless she could

yee persons of very good reputation, to whom she had some years before revealed
it, he would look upon it as & new-contrived story, either to serve the interest of the
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government, or invented to bafle what else should be sworn ; for though it was of very
damgerous consequence to reveal it, yet he could not believe she had been so secret in
it as not to reveal it to any ; and thereupon this deponent heard the said D. S. declare
she had revealed it to several which she named, but she was by all cautioned to secre-
cy, as she valued her safety. The said D. S. did then further declare to the effect fol-
lowing, viz. That fer some tinie after my lord's death it did extremely trouble her,
and she went to a divine for his advice in the matter, for which she was extremely con-
cerned to think that the papists should lay the earl’s death to his own charge, when
she had (as before) heard how they themselves had resolved to cut his throat; but the
said divine told, her, (as she then said) she must be quiet and silent in the matter, till
such times should come wherein she might with safety reveal it. This deponeunt far-
ther deposeth, That he (to his best remembrance) never saw the said D. 8. before this
meeting. And this deponent doth verily believe, that the said Mr Braddon never saw
the said D. S., till (as before) at the Cross Keys in Watling-street. And this deponent
farther believeth, that the said Mr Braddon never did hear of the said D. S. or R. M.
before this deponent had (as above deposed) given him information of them.

7. I have often heard Mr Braddon declare, that he never heard of the said D. S.
before Mr T. (as before) informed him of her, and this he would depose if thereto
called.

L. 1 think that matter is as plainly proved as the thing is capable of ; for no man
can swear positively (besides Mr Braddon) that Mr Braddon never heard of, or saw the
said D. but through the information of Mr T., but by all circumstances, as before de-
posed by Mr M. and T. he never did. "

G. l\i;' M. deposeth, That about February he did inform Mr T., and Mr T. deposeth
it was about January : here seems some variation.

T. None, I think ; for when a man is to be examined to a fact about six months af-
ter the fact done, the certain time whereof he did not set down, he may be well un-
certain as to & week or much more. Now neither of these informants being positive -
as to the time, but Mr T. being more inclined to believe it to be in January, and Mr
M. thinking it was the beginning of February, each being to swear as himself believ-
eth (as to the time) thus came the seeming difference. sides, when a man speaks
of an action to be done about such a year, month, or week, certainly (in commdn ac-
ceptation) about a year, includes gither the very year, or the year befoge or after ; and
abolit such a month, either the very month, or the month before or after, &c.

G. 1 am herein satisfied ; now this information of D. 8. thus strengthened, would
alone convince me of the truth of my lord’s being murdered, wcre it not that I had
heard some informations read in the court of King's Bench, (upon a motion made for
the bailing of Mr Holmes,) which with me, and indeed with all men, must totally de-
stroy the credit of this preteiided cogsult.

If I mistake not, thosetie;&&itions proved this D, S., for suspicion of theft, to have
been turned out of Mr Molmes# service in®April before my lour’ s death ; whereas she
swears herself a servant with Holmes at the time of my lord’s death, which was July
the 13th. "I remembernot the names of these deponents, but I am almost positive
this was what was sworn ; .and if I mistake not, there was somewhat else deposed
by a country parson, which,in some other particulars contradicted D. S.’s information.

T. 1 will herein arm you against myself, and produce you copies of these ‘informa-
tions you Speak of.. o

The first is of one Darothy Hewit, sister-in-law to Mr Holmes, a very violent papist,
and*otherwise not of the. best reputation. The second is of one Elizabeth Christopher,
once reputed of a very loose character. And the third, of Nathaniel Swan, clesk, to
whose character I shall speak in & more proper time and place.
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These are the names of the informants, and here are the informations, which you
may read, if you please. .

G. Dorothy Hewit, of Hatton-Garden, in the county of Middlesex, widow, maketh
oath, That one Dorothy (now called by the name of Dorothy Smith,) was servant to
William Holmes of Baldwin’s Gardens, in the county of Middlesex, varnisher, and bro-
ther in-law to this deponent, and lived with the said William Holmes, as his maid-ser-

«r vant, about the space of a month, and went away from the said service in the month
of April, in the year of our Lord 1683, and was turned away upou suspicion of steal-
ing a silver spoon, for which the said William Holmes’s wife refused to pay her any
wages, and, after a long dispute, the said Mr Holmes did detain 4¢. 6d. or 3s., for
satisfaction of the said spoon ; upon which the said D., in the presence and hearing of
this deponent, did give the said Mrs Holmes very opprobrious language, and declared
that she would be revenged of her, or words to that effect. And about two or three
days after the said Dorothy was turned away as aforesaid, one Elizabeth Cadman came.
into her place, and lived with the said William Holmes for the space of nine months,
and upwards. And this deponent further maketh oath, That the 6th day of July, in

«r the said year of our Lord 1683, this deponent went with the said William Holmes,
from the said William Holmes’s house, into the country, and went that day to Wick-
ham, in the county of Bucks, and the next day went to the city of Oxford, where this
deponent and the said William Holmes continued till the 9th day of the said July ;
and the said 9th day this deponent and the said William Holmes went from thence to
Alderminster, in the county of Worcester, tp the house of one Mr Nathaniel Swan,
minister of the said town, and coptinued there till the 93d day of the said month of
July, and then returned towards I’:ondon, and came to London the six or seven-and-
twentieth of the said month of July, 1683.

Elizabeth Christopher, late Elizabeth Cadman, now wife of John Christopher of
Winford Street, near Whitechapel, cloth-worker, maketh oath, That she, this deponent,
was servant to, and lived with William Holmes, varnisher, from the month of April, in

«r year of our Lord 1683, which said Mr Helmes then lived in Baldwin's-Gardens, in the
county of Middlesex, and is now a prisoner in the gaol of Newgate; and that this de-
ponent continued his servant as aforesaid, and lived in his house from the said month
of April, for thesspace of nile months and upwards then next following; and that
there was not, in that time, any other female servant living with the said Mr Holnies.
And this deponent farther maketh oath, That the said Mr Holmes, in or about. the
beginuing of the month of July then next following, did go into the country with
Mrs Dorothy Hewit, widow, his wife’s sister, and continued absent for about three
weeks ; and she, this deponent, hath heard the said Mr Holmes, his wife, and sister,
declare that they went into Worcestershire, and .in theip #bsence this deponent did
hear of the death of the late Earl of Essex in the Tow?\‘ of London.

Nathaniel Swan, of Alderminster, in the county of Worcester, clesk, maketh oath,
«r That about the 9th day of July, in the year of our Lord 1683, William Holmes, of
Baldwin’s-Gardens, in the county of Middliesex, varnisher, now a prisoner in Newgate,
London, with and in the company of Dorothy Hewit of Hatton-Garden, in the said
county of Middlesex, widow, sister-in-law to the saidWilliam Holmes, and grand-
daughter to this deponent, came to this deponent’s house, e the said town of Alder-
minster, and continued there with this deponent till about the three-and-twentieth day
of the said month of July, 1688, and then departed thence towards London. )

-~
G, What can you say in contradiction to these depositions, eitber of which being
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tru r pretended consult falls down to the ground, and your first evidence proved
fa1:,e ?yoouf t];::. same nature are (I believe) all the rest, though they may not be so hap-
pily detected as this Smith’s evidence is by these depositions.

Z. 1 believe these depositions will be of but little service to you, because your ad-
versary did so readily furnish you with them ; I am therefore apt to think he may be
able to destroy the credit of these, as these seem to do the it of Smith’s., And-if
it shall dppear that these informations are false, such a detection will add great force to
the credibility of Dorothy Smith's deposition ; for whosoever flies to lies for a defence
hath nothing of truth and innocence for protection.

G. 1 must confess there cannot be a greater argument of guilt than a false defeace,
seeing every ma in his defence doth virtually conclude, * If my defence be false, my
charge is true.” ., .

L. The law concludes the same in all civil actions; for instance, he that is sued
upon a bond, and pleads non est factum, or solvit ad diem, or a release, or a former re-
rcovery, &c. Whatsoever such general issuable flea is pleaded, and the plaintiff denies
this plea to be true, and thereupon the truth hereof being tried, if what is pleaded ap-
pears false, the law immediately gives judgment against the defendant; for it’s to be
supposed that every man will first plead the best (and consequently the truest) plea he
can in bar of the action ; and if his first plea proves false, it's presumed he can give no
true and just cause to exclude the plaintiff his action, for if he could, he would first
have pleaded it.

T. The same holds good upon criminal prosecutions; for if a man shall be accused
(though but upon suspicion) of having commiitted a robbery within two miles of Sa-
lisbury, such a day, upon such a coloured gelding, and to avoid this charge, the pri-
soner pretends he was never within thirty miles of Salisburi in his life, and be likewise
produces some (not of the best reputation) who declare, that for ten days before that
robbery, and as long after, the prisoner being vegy sick, kept his chamber, and stirred
not out of it; if, in contradiction to this, it be positively sworn by persons of undoubt-
ed credit, who. well knew the prisoner, that the very day of the robbery committed,
within a very short time before the robbery appears to have been committed, they met
the prisoner nigh the place where, &c., the prisoner’s gelding, and all other circumstan-
ces, in his clothes; &c., agreeing with the description the prosecutor gave, I say, if this
be credibly proved in contradiction to the prisoner’s defence, it tanpdt but satisfy any
judge and jury that the prisoner {s really guilty ; neither are they to ¥swer at the last
day for his blood, should he prove innocent, but Lis blood shall be uﬂuired at his own
hands, seeing, by his false defence, he became a self-destroyer, according to the com-
mon judgment of all mankind. The like may be said in a thousand other cases.

L. Innocence is lly suspected as guilt, when the falsity of its defence is de-
tected ; for if a person of avery ill reputation charged a man with a crime, if I kncw
the disreputation of the f, the bare denial of the accused might more influence
my belief than the oatl) rosecutogs ; but if once I found the prisoner false in
his defence, that cha -before I dishelieved as false, I should then iminedi-
ately as firmly credit for the truth ; but I desire to know what can be said in answer
to counter evidedces. .

7. Dorothy Héwit's depasition declares, That D. S. was turned away in April before
my lord’s death, upon suspicion of stealing a silver spoon, and upon ber being so turned
away, she threatemed Mr toli¥es with revenge. This deponent further deposeth, That
she went with Mr Holmes into the country the 6th of July, and tarried with him till
ab?xut the 27th, #0 phut Mr Holmes was not at home the 13th of July, as Smith depo-
seth, ) bt

Rlizabeth Clristopher ‘soposcth, That she came to Mr Holmes's service i pril,
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that Mr Holmes did not go into the cousbey with Mrs Hewit till D. 8. Teft Holmes's
service ; and it is sworn b};g%. M. that D. S, did not feave Mr Holmes’s service tifl affer
my lord’s death; therefore, according to these informations, Holmes did not go'into
the country.till after the death of the late Earl of Essex. Pray read this-information.

G. W. A. declareth, and is ready to depose, That whilst D. S. was servant to Mr
Holmes, in the year of our Lord 16883, this informant being then apprentice tb the Balfi
Mr Holmes, remembers that Mrs Holmes pretended she lost a silver spoon; but this
informant saith, That the said D. S. was not immedidtely hereapon tumed away, for
she tarried sometime after, to the best of thig informant’s remembrance about a fort-
night. This informant further'saith, That Mr Holmes did not go his journey into the
country with Mrs Dorothy Hewit until after the said D. S. left his service. But this
informant at present can’t be positive what month the said D. S. went from Mr
Holmes's service. ‘ . .

T. This information doth further prove, That the said D. did remain a servant with
Holmes some time after this spoon was lost, and was not immediately turned awayy as

D.S. left Hol- was pretended by Hewit. Bus a stronger evidence to prove Hewit in town, whilst she

mes’s service,
she was taken

ber fits would

swears she was with Mr Holmes in the country, than any you yet heard, is a taylor’s

with fits, a0d In hook, ready to be produced, by which it -Epem that Mrs Hewit had a dust-gown (a

cry out  The peculiar riding upper garment) made for her the week next after she swore she went

apisu are  out of town ; (this gown was made the week my lord died ;) the gown appears to be
the paputs are made about the Wednesday, which was the 11th of July, the second day next. before
e siven Ty lord's death; but the taylor can’t be positive what dn{ of this week he did deliver
:?;3;.:‘;:';5 this gown to Mrs Hewit. The taylor’s infortnation is as followeth: <

saith, that the
fright she was

in when she

“J.W.of St Dunstan’s, declareth and is ready to depose, That in July, 1688, he lived

first heard of 10 Poppin‘s-Alley, nigh Fieet-Street, wery near Mrs Dorothy Hewit, and often wrought

my lord’s death
brought upon

her those fits.

for the said Mrs Hewit, and between Monday thé 9th of July, 1688, and Monday the
16th of the same month and year, this.informant made, or caused to be made, a dust-
gown for the said Mrs Hewit, as appears by this informant’s book, ready to be proeduced ;
and the very same week, viz. between Monday the 9th July, 1683, and Monday the
16th of the same month and year, (but in the very day this informant is not certain,)
this informant carried the said dust-gown to the said Mrs Hewit, who did then pretend
she was about going into the country ; but how long after the dust-gown so delivered,
the said Mrs Hewit did go into the country, this i it kpoweth not.” -

7. This entry, before my lord’s death, is so clear w§ argument of the falsity of
Iolmes's defence—— ' '

L. And consequently of the truth of his charge.

T. That there can’t be a more satisfactory evidence in £hik part produced

G. How came this entry to be found out? \ (/77 ¢

7. When Mr Braddon found that Holmes endeavmi'red\hprove {as before sworn by
Hewit) himself out of town from the 6th of July, 1683, to the 26¢h or 27th of the same
month, Mr B. did endcavour to enquire out all such as.either Ms Holmes or Mre Hewil
were well known to or traded with ; and therefore bhe made enquiry after all those with
whom (in that month and year) they bought of; or soid to, all shopkeepers, taylo
butchers, fishmongers, shoemakers, hatters, &c. ;'and spch’as upon enquiry he receive
such characters of as he might expect fair satisfaction from; he'did desire to see their
books in that month of July, o se& whether any goods were boaght in town by thé
said Mr Holmes or Mrs Hewit, {for proving’ Hewit in town, proves Holmes likewise in
town.because it's sworn, aud can be proved, they both went out of town together,) or
any mouemmd between the 6th and 46th of July by -either of thess! After tm
losgand tedious enquiry, -(all those tradesmen being altogether strangers to Mr
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.-' ;
don) he providentially met with this Mr W, who very rgadily shewed his book, where-
ia'iz entgredas befor’; declared. This bogk Yg&h not beem;do any use to Mr W. for al-
most. five years, and it was & very great providence this had not béen tomn out, seeing
the book for some years had been used as wastg paper, and the very next leaf to this
torn out and lost. i

. L. Upon the smallest matters things of the greatest moment many times do depend ;
whocoutd have thought this eatry, so preserved, would have been serviceable in so
weéﬂht and just a cause ?

4 1%0 one providence is independent, but the most considerable occurrences are
often brought about by things of the least comsideration. Jdseph’s dream preserved
his aged father and all his brethren, and in them all that sprang from them, from that
pale famine that otherwise might have devoured not these only, but Egypt itself. And
Ahasuerus not bemng able either to dream or sleep, not only saves the Jews from -their
enemies, but destroys their very enemies themselves. ’

e L. What can Holmes and Hewit say in vindication of this notorious false defence ?

. As soon as Mrs Hewit understood such a taylor’s entry was against her oath, she,
with Holmes's wife, went to this taylor, and desired to see his bopk, which being
shewed, Hewit first pretended that this entry was forged and new ; but when Mr W,
declared he could sately, and would depase that the entrﬁ was real, it was then pre-
tended that the gown was sent into the country after Mrs Hewit ; but when, in answer
to that, Mr W. gﬂchrcd he could depose that Mrs Hewit was in town when that dust-
gown was made and delivered, and that she then pretended she was about going into
the country, (but how many days after sbe did go he could not tell,) Mrs Hewit told
him, if be did swear that, he would take off her brother’s life, and Holmes's blood would
be upon his head.

L. This is a villainous and false suggestion, to prevent the detection of lygod, and
evade the punishment for the vilest murder. I am sure of this, if Mr W. should, upon
oath, deny what he can with safety assert, he would draw the tguil‘t of perjury on his
head. And not ouly so, but this perjury being in protection of a murder, to that per-
jury he would add the guilt of my lord’s hlood, seeing by that perjury he doth endea-
vour to stifle the discovery, and prevent the prosecution of the most treacherous, bar-
barous, and cruel shurder, (in all circumstances considered) our nation ever knew. If
he that protects a murderer, (being well assured that he is such)sin his house, to avoid
the,common methods of justice, %&crves in our law to answer thiseevasion, (which
makes him accessary after the fatt) with nothing less than his life, how much more
criminal (before God) is kg ghat by perjury endeavours to frustrate the execution of
justice upon the like offeqgd The first doth an action in itself abstracted from the
end hospitable, nay, Tnguay-be charitable, and his intentions (which argues his after
assent to the murder,) gknders him a criminal ; but the second commits one of the
greatest transgressions, (Winekyin itgelf deserves almost death) with the same ill design
as the first ; wherefore gnas€ ceytaifly he me greatest criminal of the two, by that
sddition of perjury to the same offence. though our law in this case punish not
the second: offender wiLb death, yet I am sure (and I think all men will own) that the

second mest deserves it <% )
. “ That D. 8 wgs a servant at Holmes's the day of my Lord Russel’s trial, and my

Lard of Essex’s death, and 'h?t Mr Holmes and Mrs DOl'Oth} Hewit were then in town, e
farther a s foom. the werd? of a dying man, who, upon his death-bed, did several pe prored 1y
tiores deﬂare be kagw, T, S. then there a servant, and Holmes and Hewit then in seveial.
towa ; and both. and Hewit that morning pretended they would go to my

Losd Ryssel's trial . Lins pernom didi often, for several days before his death, declare this,

as what he could answer as & great tsuth before that God before whom he wasehortly

to appesr; and all this be dd' ‘confirm with almost his very ‘hlt breath, This _person




92 Tracts during the Reign.of King William 111,

did farther declare, That when D, S. was 2 sepvant to the said Mr Holmes, anit'a-titfle
,h'pfo:?h: 15&"‘30 me';ef:l,sgrs,iue, she,told this informant she was much tooubled with
~somewhat which lay wpon ber mind, upon which. this informant was desirous: to know
‘what it was, but the said D. would nat tell, being nowilling and afraid, upen which
this informant advised her to go to some divine and. discloge it.” R g
L. If the positive depositions of the living, and the last breath of a dying man.then
dropping into eternity, where this relation, (bad it been false) would etern:l(lg‘tmnent
him, may be credited, Hewit and. Christopher are .most notoriously pevjured, (and the
parson himself abai;lt being forsworn, forabout bath saved him from a flat perjury,) and
consequently Mr Holmes's defence thus sworn to ls.falsp.l;hn_ugbont:;'
T. Who then can otberwise'conclude but that this charﬁ.m true 7
L. It’s very probable, that some or other that knew Mr Holmes or Mrs quit
migltt see one or both of them at my Lord Russel's trial, (if they were there,) or might
that night hear them confess their having been there; for this was a very notorious
thing, and a sight which people of their religion and characters would rejoice to see and
delight much in the repetition of. .
G. It's not unlikely but that others may remember they saw them that day, and
heard them give an account of both my Lord Russel’s trial and the earl's death; for
both these things are so remarkable as may fix the remembrance of Holmes's an
Hewit’s being in town in some of their acquaintance. ‘
. 7. 1 think the taylor's book before observed, and the words of a dying man, wiil be
sufficient to convince all mankind. Nevertheless I can’t but say this, that it's the
duty of evér person that can be positive in Hewit's or Holmes’s being in town that
day the Ear?’ of Essex was murdered, which: was the same day my Lord Russel was
‘tried, or their bcinE in town the day just before or next after, (for that week proves
"Hewit pggjured, who swears she and Holmes went out of town the week next before,
and returned not till the 96th of the same month;) I say whosoever can be positive in’
this, and reveals it bot, consents to the death of my lord ; gnd though human law reach

him net, the divine Law-giver will one day lay it to his charge, as comsenting: to- this
blood. '

G. This doctrine I do not well understand.

L. The Jdoctrine (I think) is both true and plain, and I will give you an instance
somewhat like thig. ‘A gentleman such a day, very early in the morning, was found
murdered betweth London and Highgate, with one glove lying by the body, and aot
any person at the first, by his relations, particularly suspected.for the murderer ; at
length, upon diligent enquiry. it w3s found out (about 4wp manths after the death)
that a certain gentleman had sworn he would murder $he deceased if he coanld-ever
meet with an opportunity. Upon this suspicion he was takepup ; the prisoner denies
the fact, and in particular saith, that he could make it apge¥r by two (then present)
how that two days before this murder he went to-Sali§ dy tarried there till tén
days after, and such a day he with his twq friends réfurn®d-to London, {which two
friends being then there, declared they were ready to;depose the same.) A gentieman
just then coming in, who knew and was very well aoquainteg with the pefisoner, ha-
ving been informed of his defence, immediately reflected upon $his defence, and knew
it to be false, for this gentleman with three others, (all knowing the prisoner) very be-
times the very morning the murder was committed, (which was of a remarkable.day)
were walking out in Lambs-Conduit fields, there and ther met the prisoner, (with
another person, a stranger to them) to whom they spoke, and he to them ;,.and a fittle
after the prisoner was his spaniel, running with a fringe glove in his month ; this gen-
tleman being well known to the dog, calls the dog and takes from. him#he. gm,
puts ¥%in his pocket and carries it home. This gentleman therefore knowing this de-
fencggo be false, conuded (as he naturally might) that the charge was tug snd here-

; 2
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.yon (though with séfme reluetaiicy, beckuse the prisoner was Ris ‘dequaintanes, but
ot dearvr to him than his love to justice,) declates what you havé before heard, and
fetches the glove and Mis' two frieiids, and 41l depose (in contradiction to the prisoner's
defence) what' you bave befort’heard related; dnd the glove appeared to be the glove of
the person murdered, and fellear-to ‘that found bf‘; the body. And ‘now I desire to
know of you whhat youthink of this' gentlemén who thus falsified ‘the defente; did he
do tiresfaty of an homest men? '’ ° ¢ '

- . Truly I believe he did, and was to be commended for so doing, though the pri-
soner was his aoquaintance ; for justice obliged him to it, and justite knotos neither as-
quamtance, refatfon, ov feiend, i _ ‘

T. But do you not think that this gentleman (in foro conscientiee) had been consent-
ing to this murder, had he suffered the prisoner.by such a forged defence (which he
knew well to be false) to baffie the prosecution? . °

G. By his silence he would have consented to the murder, and (negatively at least)

*protected the })risone-r from that just punishment which both the law of God and man
Jyetly inflicts for such an offence.

7. Upon the whole matter, I think you have rather lost than Eo't any ground by
those depositions upon which you so much ‘relied to falsify D. 8.’s testimony ; and
that which you have brought to destroy hath strengthened her evidence, and conse-
quently gives credit to the truth of that most batbarous murder. i
« L. For my own part I am very well satisfied, that D, S. hath deposed the truth’;
for how can it be thought that she shonld declare so long since that she knew of this
consult, if she had not indeed heard it} her very saying it would have gone nigh (as
it would then have been managed) per fus aut nefas, toiave cost her life ; and to be-
Heve that she would hazard her life to a lie camnot enter into my thoughts. And
therefore I am verily persuaded that nothing but the power of truth made her speak in
this matter. . ® s
‘* G. It appears sworn by Hewit, that D. S. threatened Mrs Holmes with revenge
when she was turned away. .

L. For this you have the oath of one who is sufficiently detected of a falsity in two
other particulars, and therefore not in this or any thing else to be credited.

T. Had she designed any revenge, she would have sworn more home upon Mr Holmes ;
for when she was asked whether she did remember that Mr Holmgg was in the room
either of the two meetings befofe my lord’s death, she declared she would not swear
it, becduse she remembered not that she had heard him there; but all that she could

( positively swodr against him was what passed after my lord’s death, viz. When Mr
-Holmes came into tke yoom about threc of the clock that day my lord died, one strikes him
uport the back, andl cries\We have done the feat ; upon which Mr Holmes said, What, is

. the carl’s throat cut ® td which the other r?!ied, Yes, and further said, he could not but
laugh to think how like ot ghe farl lodked when they came to cut his throat ; upon
Holmes's question, it plain he well understood the meaning of that expression, zhe
Jfeat was done, or otherwise he cguld not s6 readily have hit the thing.

.~ G+ Catyit be sappased that ‘Mr Holmes would, at three of the clock that day my
lord died, ask’ whethiér my lord's throat was cut, #Men it had been, from eleven of the
clock that day, in every man’s mouth ; 4ud consequently Holmes could not but be-

(heve, withuat uny fatther enguiry, at that time of the day?
¢ . 'Whet Holmes heye dpoke by Wway of interrogation, might be intended as a strong

aflirmation of what!seemed to be askéd, ‘and this you cannot wonder at ; have you for-
got that common fifwee, "Quarir erotéyis, &c. Is not this the carpenter'sson? Is not
this he(speaking of St Paul) that désiPbyed 'them which called on his name at Jexysalem ?
dr. ‘in both these the' thiug s most - Hm%i affirried. A thousand such instances
might be given. Ot it’s possible 'that D! inight mistake; for whereas shé saith,

i
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what Holmes said, What, is the earl’s throat'¢ut? which makes it an interrogatiop,
the expression might be, What, the earl’s throat is cut, and this makes it a positive af-
firmation, Here the words are the very same, quly in the first the copula is placed
before the subject, and in the last just before the predicate. ’

G. I must confess, if either of these have sworn true,.or the dying man s‘polcc truth,
this truth is a very strong confirmation of her testimony, and I cannotjwell disbelieve
these five, seeing they all so well agree in their evidence ; for five swear Sthith-was
theré about peasé time, which must be after April. 1 shall detain you no longer upon
this particular; but desire you to proceed.

7. Secondly, the many reports in several parts of England, (before the earl's death)
that the Earl of Essex had cut his throat in the Tower. This is proved by eight wit-
€888, '

L‘s Enough, sure, to one point.: .

G Iftheir credit be good, none ought to doubt what is attested by so many.

L. 'The scripture saith, that in the mouth of two witnesses a thing shall be confirm-*
ed ; he that will doubt the truth of a fact attested by eiglhit credible persons is not\to
be argued with. ° )

7. Pray read these eight informations.

G. “ W. T. declareth, and is ready to depose, That Wednesday, being the 11th of
July, 1683, the second day before the death of the late Earl of Essex, one Mr H. of
Froom in Somersetshire, told this informant, that the Earl of Essex had cut his threat
in the Tower. This informant farther saith, Fhat about the 18th of the same month’of
July, in the year aforesaid, meeting some clothiers then newly come frem London, the
clothiers declared to this informant, that the Earl of Essex had cut his throat in the
Tower, Friday before, about nine of the clock in the morning; upon which this in-
formant declared, he had Keard it from Mr H. the Wednesday before my lord’s death.
This informant farther saith, That meeting the said Mr H. soon after, this informant
asked the said Mr H. how he could inform this informant the Wednesday before my
lord of Essex’s death, that my lord had cut his throat in the Tower, when it appeared
that my lord of Essex did not die till Friday morning after, about nine of the clock?
Upon which the said H. answered, That all concluded my Jord of Essex would either
cut his throat, or «be ‘an evidence against his friend my Lord Russel, and most be-
lieved my lord would rather cut his throat than turn tvidence against his friend.” ,

“ J. B. of Marlborough in the county of Wilts, pin-maker, declareth, and #s ready
to depose, That he, this informant, was at Froom about eight in the morning, about 100
miles from London, Friday the 18th of July, in the year of our Loyd 1683, and this in-
formant then heard at the Dolphin aforesaid, that the Earl of £ssex had cut hus throat
in the Tower; and the person that informed this informant-thdn farther declaved, That
he much feared it might go the worse with my Lotd &?nq,l{ ich that day was to be
tried.” ‘ B N

“ Mrs M. declaieth, and is ready to depose, That Thureday tke 12th of July, 1643,
going with her daughter into Berkshire, her daughter informed this informant, that the
night before, being Wednesday nigist, a gentleman declared it was reported one of the
lords in the Tower had cut his throat.”

¢ Mr P. H. merchant, and his wife, both declare, angd .are ready to depose, That
these informants were at Tunbridge Wells, about thirty-fite_miles from London, the

Mytorawas 8y of the death of the late Earl of Essex, and about ten of the clock that very morn.

porknowato img it was whispered nigh the Wells, that the Earl of Essex had cut bis-¢hreat in the

ter nine. Tower, the same was soon contradicted and bushed up till chapel was ended, which
was about, or a little before, twelve of the clock, and then the same report-was revived,
and 80"continued without any contradiction,”
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& T. F. of Andower, about sixty miles from London, declareth, and is ready to de-
plse, That the 10th day of July, 1683, being the Wednesday next before the death of
the late Earl of Essex, this informant heard it reported at Andover aforesaid, that the
Earl of Essex had out his throat in the Tower, and it was that same Wednesday like-
wise declared, that the earl cut his throat for this reason, viz. The king and duke co-
ming into the i‘owcr where the Earl of Essex was a prisoner for high treason, the earl
wasaffpid the king weuld have come up into his chamber and have seen him ; but his
guilt and shame was such, that he could not bear the thoughts of it, having been so

teful an offender against so good a master, therefore his lordship cut his throat to
avoid it. This.informant further saith, That the same Wednésday night, enquiring at
the coffee-housé,” whether the London letters made any mention of this, he could hear
of none that writ of it; upon which this informant concluded it was false, though the
same report continued at Andover. This informaxt further saith, That by Friday post
he did expect a confirmation Of the same, but could not (upon enqui?) hear of any
London letters that 3poke of it, upon which this informant concluded all was false.
Byt Saturday being the 14th of July, the very next day after the earl’s death, this in-
rmant was told that the Earl of Essex had cut his throat in the Tawer; upon which
this informant declared he had heard the same (repeating what he had as before heard)
the Wednesday before; upon which this informant was told that it was very strange,
seeing the earl did not cut his throat till the Friday after, or a little after nine of
the clock in the morning.”
¢« J. B. declareth, ang is ready to depose, That he, this informant, lay at Andover,
(about sixty miles from London) Thursday night, the 12th of July, 1683, the very next
day before the death of the late Earl of-Essex ; and as this informant, Friday morning,
about four of the clock, was going out with the ostler to catch his horse, the ostler se-
veral times over told this informant, that the night before it was reported at his mas-
ter’s house, that the late Earl of Essex had cut fis throat in the Tower. This inform-
ant further saith, That the very same day, in the afternoon, he came to his own house
in Sonthwark, in the county of Surry, and was then informed that the Earl of Essex,
that very morning, between nine and ten of the clock, had cut his throat in the Tower ;
upon which this informdnt was much surprized, having, as before, heard the same at
Andover, nigh sixty miles from London, above four hours before the earl’s death.”
. #¢ J. 8. of Bolt and Tun Court, is ready to depose, That at or*befpre six of the clock,
that very morning the late Earl of Essex died in the Tower, (viz. J@ly the 13th, 1683,)
there came into this informant’s house a gentleman, who, with much concern, told
this informant he had just before heard the Earl of Essex had cut his throat in the
Tower ; but this informant, about eleven of the clock the same day, being inform-
ed that the earl w dead till about nine aof «the clock, this informant was much

surprized at the report pf my lord’s having cut .his throat so many hours before the
earl’s d&th." 4 ﬂ y

G. Have any of these eight been sworn before the lords ?

<4

T. I bave been informed by all those eight witnesses, that they have deposed (in ™ previous

substance) as you have before heard. o~

L. I think no man can well doubt the truth of this report before my lord’s death
thus dcﬁosed by so many ‘witnesses.

7. Those men wink hagd, (that they may not be convinced) who will not reasonably
conclude from tho % vefy reports only, were there no other sort of evidence, that this
brave apd honouralile; but unfortunate carl, was indeed barbarously murdered ; for you
imay observe all thase seports in many places of England, agree in the manner how, and
ﬂ:glaa where, for all mid that the earl had cut his throat in the Tower; one report
doth not say the earl had destroyed himself, which might have comprehended any

1]
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manner of death, neither do any of those reports say, that my lord had poisoned, stab-
bed, Tidiged, or pistolled himse"{f;‘(:# whit ‘qﬁ'éb{:amon ways of 'self-destructian, afid
eithér fﬁgg have been practised by any gentleman under confinément ;) neither do either
of ‘those Teports differ in the place ugeriz, {though all those places where the report was

Note b‘éfmff*my?ord's death, that my lord had cut his throat in the Tower, could not at the
time of this report be presumed to have been informied of my Jordjs heing in the
Tower,) 1 say all these reports jump in one and the same manner of sllf-musdg;._,and
all agree in the place where, viz. the Tower. This clearly proves, that some days be-
fore my lord’s very commitment to the Tower, it was concluded, not only that my lord
should be murdered in the general, but likewise the particular manuer how, and the
place whete resolved upon. For how could Froom (being a hundred niiles from Lon-
don) hear, Wednesday morning the 11th of July, of my lord’s being prisoner in the
Tower, when his lordship was not scait to the Tower till the day before ? (being the
10th in the afternoon ;) or how céuld this commitmentt be well heaid of at Andover
(about sixty miles from London) on Wednesday morning, (Tuesday’s pc-t not being:
there till Wednesday in the afternoon,) when the commitment was not till the Tues-
day in the afternoon? and yet at both these places, this very Wednesday morning,
was it reported that the earl had cut his throat in the Tower.'

L. To me it is beyond all doubt, from what before appears, that the Tower must be
fixed upon as the place where this perfidious cruelty was to be acted, before my lord
was prisoner in the Tower, and the particular manner concluded in, or otherwise the
reports as to the manner how, and place where, would have differed.

'G. But how could it be supposed to be sent from hence the Saturday before my
lord’s death, that my lord of Lssex had cut his throat in the Tower, whea it was well
known throughout this town, that my lord was not then in the Tower, nor committed
tifl ‘the Tuesday following ?

"T. Upon the best enquigy I could make, and the most probable reason I can give,
how this came so reported in the couitry before it was tndeed done, is this: It was
resolved upon, as D. S, deposeth, nine days before my lord’s death, that my lord’s throat
should be cut. Now those that were privy to the whole secret, and were willing to
oblige their country correspondents and friends with this (to that bloody party) grate-
ful tesolution, that the earl’s throat was to be cut in the Tower, and laid to his own
charge, and this to be.done either soon after his first commitment, or upon my Lord
Russcl’s trial, (whi‘h was put off some short time) sych as had received so wei
intelligence were likewise willing and ready, partly out of a desire to oblige theirfriends
in the country, (to whom this design might be as acceptable) and fyartly out of an iich
of telling news, and of being the first in the country that gave information of this, (te
them glad tidings) not doubting but my lord’s throat was inde t when it was first
resolved upon to be cut, viz. either upon his first commitment, { which they might sup-
pose would have been before it was, all things being so resolvéd mpon) or upon my Lord
Russel's trial (which was to have been before it waS, bdt pikglf, of which these coun-
try intelligencers might not hear,) these, I say, beinge informea that the matter. wag
thus laid, concluded the thing was done as it was so'designed to be done, 4nd so re-
ported the thing as doné before it was indeed done. 'Z.

G. Itook more particular notice ot F.’s information than of either of the cight. If

* This circumstance, which seems so very strong, is far from conclysive. ’ ule first place, it wopld sugus
the must unpardonable impradence on the part of the supposed assassins, Butsecondly, report of such st

events as cateh the vulgar. flies with the most wonderful rapidity. And, thirdly, 1t often happens, that the'fdot of
such teports baving been really uttered is founded on misconception. It was cutrently repossed, andbelieven;
upon apparently good evidence, that the unparalieled murder of the late My Perceval way publicly spokorond
in the wléagr of Leclefechan, in Dumfries-shire, twenty-four houry befure the news could posyibly have rapehiod
thather by the most rapid conveyance, But on investigation, the report was found to Eage ansen from ibhe
death of4hat excellent minister being confounded with & murdes m Yorkshire perpetrated about the same fime.
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I mistake not, F. swears that the Wednesday before my lord’s death, it was reported .
at Andover, That the king and duke being in the ]‘ower, the earl was afraid the king
would have come up into his chamber and have seen him, but his guilt and shame
was such, (in consiXeration of his great ingratitude to the best of masters) that he cut
his throat to avgid it-; I desire to see this information again.

T are, 4s to the substance, in the right. .

G. This looks as though the story were made after my lord’s death, for the king
and duke went not to ‘the Tower till Friday morning, and their then going was alto-
gether a surprize to the whole town: And after the earl's death their being then there
occasioned very ‘gross reflections, seeing they had not been, (as I have been credibly in-
forme«) above twice together in the Tower since the Restoration. Now that this unfor-
tunate action (the earl’s death) should be cloathedn the very same circumstances as
afterwards pretended to be dotte, not only as to the Manner how, the place where, but
likewise the reason wherefore ; which reason sets forth the king and duke's being in oy
the, Tower when the earl did it, and done to avoid seeing his majesty ; for the earl (as
wils said) was afraid the king would have come up into his chamber and seen him ; but
the king and duke’s being in the Tower could neither be foreseen nor expected ; this, I
say, makes F.’s evidence scarce credible.

T. Neither the cutting the earl’s throat, or the place where it was to be done, or
who was to be there, (viz. the king and duke) when it was to be done, could be exther
foreseen or expected by any but those who either laid this bleody scene, or were privy
by information to its contiivance, and such as well knew or had been informed how
this matter was resolved upon, may well be sapposed capable of giving a particular in-
formation of this designed cruel tragedy. '

L. I do well remember, that the very morning my lord died there was a small paper
cried about of the earl’s death, wherein it was so represented, and the common report
of the town then was, that the ear] cut his throat for the same reason so long before
assigned by the report at Andover. I must confess this is very astonishing, and who-
soever believes F.’s evidence only, must from such a belief be fully assured, not only
that the earl’s throat was-designed to be cut, but likewise that it was contrived to be
done in the same eircumstances it was afterwirds acted under, for else it could not pos-
sibly be so circumstantially reported before my lord’s death ; not only as to the kow
and the where, but likewise the wherefore given out hefore it was dogg.

F. Ggntlemen, I perceive you are both extremely surprized with this particular evi-
dence of F., as what looks like an aftcr-made story, secing the earl’s death was here so
long before reported, as afterwards it was pretended to be acted, both as to the circum-
stances of the king and duke's being in the Tower, and the consideration that (was pre-
tended) then moved the earl hereunto, viz. fear of the king's coming into his chamber,
and seeing him, which Hre#guilf and shame (as was pretended) would not bear tixc
thoughts of : But to codfirm s ¢éposition, you will hereafter hear others depose the
same; in the mean tinre™] desireyou woull compare this with that part of D. S.’s evi-
dence, which declares, that nine gays before the earl’s death it was declared, that the
duke had concluded and ordered his throat to be cut ; and his highness had promised to i
be there when it was done. Now it would have ¥Bked more directly upon his high-
ness, should he alone have .gone into the Tower that morning ; and, therefore, as a co-
lour to that pretended reason for the self-murder, and a screen to his highness, his ma-
Jesty must be persuaded te/go down likewise; so that if any should say the earl was
murdered, it should be esteemed a reflection upon his majesty, who was then in the
Tower, as though his majesty had gone to the Tower that morning to murder the earl.
Thus we find the metter. managed by the lord chief justice and attorney-general at M
Braddon’s trial, almost thronghout the trial. »

YoL, X N
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s § perceive then that you do not think Charles the Second had asy hand in edn-
trivisg:this murder ¢ : vig iR ¥ B
.1\ .1.do not, I assure you ; but rather the contrary, wpon very good reasons, which
you will hereafter be satisfied in, for I shall mention them in their proper place. Bus I
do verily believe that, some short time before the king's death, his ingjesty was per-
suaded the earl was murdered ; and had his majesty lived six months fongergjtisoery
probable you might long since have seen this detection. '

L. 1 have some reason for the same belief : For I do well remémber, about six months
after the late king's death, I was credibly told this story ; my Lord Chief Justice Jef-
feries not long after that king’s death was at some public place, where he took an oc-
casion to speak very largely in praise of his majesty, then lately deceased ; and af-
ter he had made a very long harangire in his praise, his lordship turned about and whis-
pered a gentleman in the ear, (witom he thought his confidant,) saying, * If the king
had lived six months longer, we had been all hanged, notwithstanding what I have
said,”

7" The measure of his lordship’s iniquity was not then full.

L. It seems not; but every man must believe his lordship’s measure was very. large,
or otherwise the great quantity of innocent blood therein poured by his vile injus-
tice, bad long before his death made it run over.

- G. 1 do very much wonder (admitting the earl was murdered, which I am now al-
most brought to the belief of) how it should thus become generally reported in so many
places before his death. _ '

L. This almost will shortly be an altogether, and You will in this be thoroughly per-
suaded of the truth of this Earbarous murder; for 1 have reason to think much more
will be said to prove it, because there are so many witnesses of which we have as yet
had no account.

7. 'The reason of iis b¥ing so generally reported before it was done, you will not so
much admire at, if you consider all the circumstances of this action. This murder was
not acted out of any private motive to some private end ; it was not done for the sa-
tisfaction of personal revenge: No, this was a branch of that cursed arbitrary, and po-
pish design against our civil and religibus rights, at that time carsied on with all the
fury imaginable under colour of supporting the English monarchy and church of Eng-
land, both whicprwere then falsely said to be threatgned. with ruin by that party, of
which that truly noble, but unfortunate lord, was marked out as one of the ghief: I
say this was done to remove a chief obstacle to that popish and atbitrary end the.true
enemies of both church and state were then carrying on; for you find it sworn by D. S.

¢ that several days before the earl’s death, the papists cursed him as one who knew
much of their designs, (which he could not be ignorant of observing, though with ha-
tred, from those high posts he had been employed in), and-whas so very averse to their
interest, that unless he was taken off, they should ne\%r carry them on. The carrying
on their popish, arbitrary, and devilish design, you see, was Dy themselves assigned as
the reason of this most perfidious and barbarous cruelty ; so that this murder was a
branch of their plot, and consequently might be supposed to ke known to many ; all
which have not been men of the ghatest secrecy ; witness theit reports of the fire of
London so long before it came to pass; and their giving an account of Sir Edmondbury
Godfrey’s death in the country before we could be assured of the same in town, the
body not being then found. Several the like instances might, be given.

L. For my own part, I can wash my hands from the blood of any of those unforta-
nate gentlemen which suffered for endeavouring to oppose those arbitrary designs,
which the charitable opinion most mén had m the then court could not at that fime
beliéve to be true, but to our great danger and cost we have since seen them appear
more bare-faced ; and those very men who esteemed it damnable to draw the sword in
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defence of our religious and civil rights, though mever so grossly invaded, bavé siace
aftered both their opinion and practice, and could now weep over the dust of those
whose persons they esteemed wot deserving of lifel Bat, blessed be God, our common
danger taught us to unite against the common euemy of all true religion and liberty,
and 1o join as one man with that hand from heaven (our present sovereign) sent ‘to re-
scue us from what threatened the destruction of whatsoever was dear to any of us.
Ma¥-Getl in mercy preservé us from these heats and animosities which being (by our
common enemy )once theroughly enkindled, may go nigh to end in the utter destruction
of all that which of late hath been miraculously snatched out of the fire, instrument-
ally by that hand which some of us (ungrateful as we are !) by our-actions seem, neithet
to thank as our benefactor, nor acknowledge as our sovereign, though he seems to have
a double title to the crown, Jure Divino, (by thag miraculous success God was pleased
to crown him with,) and Jurg Humane, by that ékction (in common gratitude) made
by the states of tho kingdom.
+ ~ L. From all these reporis, %e may well conclude the earl’s death was resolved upon
by that bloody party which murdered him both in person and reputation, and the man-
ndr how, the place where, and the (forged) reason wherefore, agreed m. These'bloody-
minded men would (without douht) from the same motives, and to carry on the same
end, destroy as many more, were it once again as much within their power as it then
was, only they would do it with this difference, that whereas therein they did act clhn-
destinely, we must expect that hereafter they would do it in the face of the sun, and
justify it. But from their crugl power and bloody malice, good Lord deliver us.

(. I desire not to detain you any longer og this particular, for I am herein well sa-
tisfied, and therefore pray proceed. . . :

7. 1 am now come to the second general head, viz. what passed the day my lord
died ; you may observe it was denied by Bomeny, Munday, and Russel, the three that
attended on my lord at the time of bis death, the first as ns sarvant, and the two others
as his warders, that there was any man let into my lord's lodgings before my lord’s
death. that mosning my lord died ; the like did John Lloyd (the seatinel that morning,
my lord died, at the door of Major Hawley’s house, wherein my lord lodged.) I shall
now prove that there wete some ruffians let yuto my lord’s lodgings a little before his
death to murder my lord.

ol’ray rcad this information,

. @. “ 8. 8. linen-draper declareth, and is ready to depose, That the 21st of January
Jast, this informant was at the Goat alehouse in the Minories, where John Lloyd, sen-
tinal upon the late Edil of Essex at the time of his death, as this informant then was
informed, was that day broyght prisoner, being talien up as suspected privy to the deaih
of the late Earl of Essex. ““I'hjy informant further saith, That he this mformant dis-
‘coursed the said Lloyd cbncernimg-the saig earl’s death, and the said Lloyd did fer some
short time often deny that he hadl let in any men iato the Farl of Essex’s lodgings that
worning the earl died. This informant persuaded the said Lloyd to discharge his con-
science to God and miin, and tell what he knew agith felation thereunto, lest, by his
.deuial or silenee, beshould draw the guilt of that innocent blood upon himself; Lut
the said Lloyd for sometime persisted in his denisl, and whilst the said Lloyd was de-
nying his letting in any mea into my lord that moruing my loud died, before his death,
here was brought dago th& room one Major Webster (as this informant afterwaids un-
erstpod him 1o be,) then prisoner for the same matter. This intormant. did thereupon
“ask the said Lioyd whether he knew the said W ebster, which the said Lloyd denied,
and said, he never saw him before in his lite; upon which this infarmant said,” ity was

very. muck. that. the spid Lloyd should net know or remember to haxe seen the sud
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Webstar, Wi *iv’#s tiis ﬁi'viglibﬁnr, and'very tiototious §H ¥he place whére hedived: Bpt
the'sdid Lloyd peisisted for some short tifme Tt his’denial of aiy knowledgge of the said
Webstet' but soon after, the sard Bloyd took this'informant by the hand, atd wri
or u%}g this informant’s hand, with teart'in'lis’eéyes, spoke’to' this ¢ffect: '« Mastet, T give
you a thousand thanks for your gond advice, and I d6 NOW remember, by special order
of Major Hawley, I did let'in two of three'ten (hut o' the bést bf fify remembrance
thrce) into my lord’s lodgings that mrothitig my lord died, 4nd a very short titveLore
his death ; and that man (pointing o Webster) wis one of the, three men I did so let
in,” upon which thisinformant told thé said Lloyd, it was very strange he should pre-
tend that Webster whs one of the three men lie had let into my lord's {gtgings just be-
fore his death, when the said Lioyd had 4'little before pretended that he' never saw the
said Webster beforc that time. Thiginformant further spoke to the said Lloyd to this
effect, That as the said Lloyd wa’s&senting to my lord's death, in case he did endea-
vour to stifle any truth which might tend to the discovery of my lord’s murder, so'would
the said Lloyd be guilty of Webster's blood, if he should charge him in this particular
with a lie; for what jury soever should believe that Webster was one of those let into
my lord just before his death, (it hdving been by all denied that any were so {et n,)
would likewise believe that Webster tvas one of the ruffians that murdered his lordship ;
and therefore this informant advised the said Lloyd to be very careful in the matter:
whereupon Lloyd replied, That he could be very positive in the man, a * ' he were
even then to die, he could safely and truly charge him upon his oath Fhis
informant further saith, That Lloyd did then further declare, That as soon as he had let
in those men into my lord’s lodgings, he did*hear several (and he did suppose them to
be those he so let in,) go up staiss into my lofd’s chamber, where there immedsately
cnsued a very great noise and tiampling, and thereupon sommewhat thrown down like
the fall of a man ; not long after which, it was cried out that the Earl of Essex had
cut his throat. Lloyd didfurther decjare, That he did not remember that he saw those
men go out of Major Hawley’s house, but he did believe they might tarry sothe time
in the house, till the crowd came in upon the discovery of my lord’s death, and then
went out with the crowd.”
L. Dud any others besides Mr S. hear this Lloyd thus confess the letting in these
men ? : ¢
7. Yes. Besideg Lioyd before the justice confessed the letting in two men into my
lord’s lodgings a"iittle before his death ; as appears by the copy hereof.

The Exammation of John Lloyd of Goodman's-yard, in Aldgate Parish withont, in London,
Cloth-worker, taken before John Robins, Esq. one of the Justives of° Peace for the Countu
of Muddleses, the 22d Day of January, Anno Domini 1689..

This examinant saith, on the day whereon the rijht hohourablé the late Earl of
Essex was found dead, upon the suspicion of baving \been muydered in his lodgings in
the Tower of London, he then being a soldier, was standing $¢ntinel at the dodr of sthe
said earl's lodgigf-s, and had ordeso let nobody go np stdirs to the said todgings with-
out leave from Major Hawley, or the warder then in waiting on the said earl; and that
about half an hour after eight of the clock in the mdrhing of the said day, two men
(to this examinant unknown,) knocked at the hatch-doorbelonging to thé seid 1odg-
ings, and by permission of the said warder, entéred the sa.i}i‘ Eﬂ%l: , butwhen they
ca.rm‘i!l out,.d e can give 530 ;iclgtm;nt\;mang f‘ltgl?tr'habrﬁt’u’inc O'tloek htg:ﬂd‘g:'mming
on the said morning, 4 little time éard'a ctylhg,” q

7°. Read this iikgwise.ql ' T }g’i r.g’ wun; ;,-‘.Eéﬁ d‘i .
G+ C. T. of the Minories, butcher; déclareth, and is tbad§ {5 depbse, That after Lioyd
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had:lain aboyt a month, in Nawgate, be did desire this informant (as he was iuformed,),
tt?%ee him, who by permissian of the honourable iqggs‘ﬁ%q“ F‘ch f(;?::jt Pci‘w:g: \ accggd)-
ingly;; when shis informant came to Lloyd, the said Loy s,pcgze to this sfect, viz,
« Master, as you are;my neighbour, so I hape you will be my frienc ang true ;‘?i me,” to
witich this infarmant declared hg would be a friend 1o the ;3}%%,]9393;}';&@3 1€ gould :
whereupon. the said Lloyd declared, that all the time he bad heen ip Newgafe, sompe-
wha ax upon his conscience, and troubled him night and day, upen ,ty{{ic[} tth._l: nform-,
ant asked. the said Llggd what that was that was so troublesome to him, ‘whereupon’
the said Lloyd, after often pressing this informant to be trye tq him, told ihi’; inform-
ant, that when-he the said Lioyd was first prisoner at the Goaf-alchouse in the ;B“ﬁng’-t
ries, he did confess somewhat to a gentleman, who was altogether a stranger to h‘i’:‘h,‘ﬂ
which confession troubled him. This informaat then desired to know what that cgn-
fassion was which had been so troublesome to Jusinind ; Lloyd hereupon renewing‘ﬁfm
request, that this informant wduld be true to him, said he was troubled in conscience
night and day, because he had confessed to that.stran%e gentleman the letting in those
men into my lord’s lodgings just before his death. This mformant then told the said
Lioyd, the like he had confessed to this infarmant and several others ; and even before tlje’
justice of peace had owned it under his hand ; but if it were false, he ought fo retract
at,.and b sorry for having said it ; upon which the said Lloyd declared it was ipdéed’
very true that he did let in those men, but it was what he should not have said.” °

L. “ Yon say that the sentinel pretends he remembers not when these ruffians came’
out of the.house; but I have been informed that a servant maid (who then lived in’
the Tower) came that mormug into Legden-hall-market, and wrung her hands, and’
cried out, The Earl of Essex was murdered, the Earl of Essex was murdered ; upon
which the people gatlmrin% about her, advised her to silence, telling her she would
bring herself into trouble by such expressions. The maid thereupon declared she’was
suse it was true, for she saw the men that mirdered him jusg as they came down out
of his chamber, and one of them almost pushed hér all along.”
. 7. Do you know who this maid 1s ?

L. No, but [ spoke with several that saw her’the same morning in the market, and

heand ber declare as above related. 0
7' There hath been great diligence used to find out this maid, but neither of those
who.heard her knew her name. .

L. I am sure it’s the duty of thpse who knew her, (or of any other’hat could testify
any® thing material in this matter) to give information to the gentlemen by this ho-
nourable family engaged in this prosecution.

T. Mr Braddon, a little after my lord’s murder, was informed of a person (if I mis-
take nat, he was said to be a waterman) who likewise saw those ruffians as they came
out of the house, just before my lord’s death was known, and observed some .blood
upon one of their cloaths,'blit hyving been often searched in the King's Bench prison,
aadﬂ:i @ hurry.forced to tonveyaway his papers; he lost the name and place ofP abode

man. ‘ '
L. Thays a great misfortune ; ‘but if this discourse comes to the hand of thaf peér,
son, or.any that have ireard him declare what is above related, or any thing else'mate:
rial in. this mattet, they, are, p¢d.to sead notice to"Mr Braddon, from whom a letter
E::gg :II:; ‘?; ichard's coffee:, njgh Temple-Bar, it will come sfa,fely angd speedily
b 48] 18 e 1t .\ w! .i'l",‘”' vy ubr s o - ’ ¥ |
(s 1t wouldh be ng dijledssistanac to.a facther ,ﬂ‘rﬁqver_\r of this matter, (though I
afn, g eyery man ﬁ‘)ﬁ,}pxe}, wha ,;g,hegg relg,te as prqyeql‘or ready to Le attested,
must be wgll,gat lqihgmrﬁpr, ,gﬁlqvcnr.mar,g at,1s ot 10 {b&i}sﬁ accessary to
this murder would but be § ingenuous and Iree as to’serid Mr Braddon, and give him
ap acgeyny hereof. 1Us,not desired that apy shauld declare more than what is frue, and
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what he would answer at the dreadful day of judgment ; for whosoever doth in this
casé #¢test a lie, ot what to him is such, endéavours to commit, by such his perjury,
the worst sort of mirder. : o

‘Z. Did either of the warders, o0 my lord’s servant, publickly confess the letting in
those ? ' .

7. No, nor this soldier, before he was seized the 21st of January lapt.

L. Seeing then they did all deny that any men were let into my lord thatysorning,
T can't but suppose these men so let in were let in Lo murder my lord ; for had any

ersons been innocently let ip, it might have been innocently confessed and owned, but
{:eiug admitted into the house with this villainous and bloody design, those waiting on
my lord thought it neither canvenient nor safc to confess the letting in of any.

G. This Lloyd expressed himself very oddly to T. whom having often desired and
enjoined to secrecy, to him pre;eﬁ’ding he was much troubled in conscience for what
he had confessed, but nevertheless declared such his tonfession to be true, but t was
what he should not have owned. This looks as though there were some cursed confe-
deracy entcred into for the suppression of truth.

L. I thought you would be brought over.

G. I weic never so wedded to the belief of a fact through pre{udice or misinforma-
tion, but upon a full and clear discovery of my mistake, did readily renounce my first
belief, and cleave to the best information, or at least that which to me seemed the tiuest ;
and to deal plainly with you, I did not think so much could be said to prove what
many industriously endeavour to persuade me was false. But there comes even now
mto my mind, an ebjection against this Lloyd’s confession, which will, I think, destroy
its credit with all men. If I mistake not, you told me this Lloyd at Mr Braddon's trial
upon oath denied the letting in any men beforc my lord’s death ?

T. "Tis very true.

G. llow then can any man give credit to this confession, which is a point-blank
coutradiction to his former oath? Nay, if Lloyd upon oath asserted what before he had
forsworn, I could not barely upon the credit of his oath believe it. |

T. Barely upon the credit of Lloyd I should hardly believe any thing; only consi-
der that the confession of every man, thoygh ten times perjured, is to be admitted against
himself. But further, pray reflect on the circumstances of Lloyd’s first oath, and you
will find in several pespects he stood prejudiced, so that his first oath could not be of
equal credit witt his now confession. For admitting my lord was murdered by those
men so let in, either Lloyd was privy to the murder, or he was not ; if he were privy,
then he swore to save himself; if he was not privy to the designed murder, or knew
any thing of it, till after the fact was done, then could he not but c?ect, tl‘_lat%the
same principles, backed with the same power which murdered my lord, would have
likewise destroyed him, should he have declared what he knew in the matter; there-
fore the fear of being hanged in the one case, and the ddnger of a stab or the like in
the other, were ‘)owerful arguments with this sentinef I dL grant no man (upon any
consideration whatsoever,) ought to be influenced to perjury; but yet I deSI_tt never
to fall under so strong temptations. You can’t therefore but confess this sentinel at
the time of Mr Braddon’s trial was under a strong prejudice # deny what he wmight
in this case know, and that for the reasons before alledged ; wherefore compare the
circumstances of his confession with what he afterwards declared, undera great injune-

&7 tion of secrecy ; viz. That he was troubled night and day, he had coufested the letting

in these men, for though it was indeed true, he should not have confessed. Cynsider,
truth becomes not a lie by being denied, (thoygh upon cath,) nor,a'lie a truth by be-
ing swarn. Wherefore, all circumstances considered, you have much strotiger reasons
to bslieve Lloyd’s now confession than his forter oath,” But $hat there were some
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merr let into my lord, and were bustling with his lords ? just before his death, appears
more clearly from this information following, which I desire you to read.

G. “ M. B. declareth, That a little before the death of the late Earl of Essex was
discovered, this informant was walking up before the earl's chamber window, and hear-
ing a very great trampling and bustle in my lord’s chamber, this informant stood still,
and looking to the window of the said chamber, saw three or four heads move close
together, and heard one in the chamber, which seemed to be one in this bustle, cry out
very loud and very dolefully, $purber, murber, murder ; this informant, not then know-
ing it to be my lord’s lodging, nor thinking any other of this cry, than what might be
occasioned by some accidental quarrel, walked up towards the chapel, but not out of
sight of the ﬁ)dgings; and about a quarter of an hour after (or less,) it was first cried
out in the house, that the Earl of Essex had cut his throat, upon which this informant
went down to the house, and beig shewed the chamber where the earl lay, she found
that was the chamber where she saw the men, and heard the bustle, and murder thrice
cried out as before related. This informant further saith, That some few days after this,
telling Mr P. and his wife, (whom she then kept in her lying-in) of what she had seen
and heard as before declared, the said Mr P. advised her not to speak of it, for her di-
vulging it, in all probability, would prove her rain.”

f s this woman sworn ?

7. Yes, and, as she hath informed me, deposed the same.

G. But what has become of this Mr P.?

T. His information is ready, which you may read.

G. *“ A, P. declares, That within a week after the death of the late Earl of Essex,
M. B. did gve this informant and his wifé¢ the same account as above related by the
said M. B. and this informant did then caution and advise the said M. B, not to reveal
it, lest it should prove her ruin.”

L. Is this Mr P. sworn ?

T. Yes, as he hath informed me, and deposed the same.

7. This Mrs B. was very unwilling at first to declare in this matter what she knew
to be true. .

L. Why there was no danger in the discovery upon this revolution,

T. 1t's true; and it was not danger, but (what she thought her) interest that would
have deterred hers

I Interest! Is she a papist?

7. No, nevertheless she thought it not for her profit this murder should be disco-
vered,

L. Certainly it's both the duty and interest of all true protestants that this murder
should be fully detected ; and I can’t well foresee wherein it could be inconsistent with
this woman’s interest (if she were indeed a protestant,) that this barbarous cruelty should
be laid open. x

G. It may be she was afraid some friend or relation might be concerned.

7. That's very true ; it was to save a relation, but not of blood or affinity, buta
civil parent;, the cruel father of us all, the late K. I meap. For the case stood thus:
‘This Mrs B. had been nurse to_some papists of quality, and others where that infamous
Madam Midnight, Madam Wilks, had been midwife; and this Mrs Wilks had pre-
tended a greatiindnesa to This nurse, and had assured her she would get her into the
court to be nurse to severd)- fersons of eminent quality, which this woman thought
might be much for her édvantage ; and therefore, when Mr Braddon first spoke to her,
and asked her whether'she was in'the Tower that morning the late Earl of Essex died,

she answeted (sgemi der, dorne surpfise and disorder,) Yes. Mr Braddon then de-
sired to know wﬁa?%md or‘ugfvﬂth relation to thatunfortunate lord's death ;


























































































